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PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We refer to Highwoods Properties, Inc. as the “Canyy’ Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership as ti@pérating Partnershipthe
Company’s common stock as “Common Stock” or “Comn&irares,” the Company’s preferred stock as “Prefe@tock” or Preferre
Shares,” the Operating Partnership’s common pastirinterests as “Common Units,” the Operatingtri®gaships preferred partnerst
interests as “Preferred Units” and sefvice properties (excluding rental residentiaits)nto which the Company and/or the Opere
Partnership have title and 100.0% ownership rigistthe “Wholly Owned Properties.” References to™amed “our” mean the Company a
the Operating Partnership, collectively, unlesscetext indicates otherwise.

The partnership agreement provides that the Opgr&artnership will assume and pay when due, ortneise the Company for paym
of, all costs and expenses relating to the ownprsinid operations of, or for the benefit of, the @pirg Partnership. The partners
agreement further provides that all expenses o€tirapany are deemed to be incurred for the beoiefite Operating Partnership.

Certain information contained herein is presentedfaluly 22, 2010, the latest practicable datdif@ncial information prior to the filir
of this Quarterly Report.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited and in thousands, except share anchpeg amounts)

June 30, December 31,

2010 2009
Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land $ 337,65t $ 350,53
Buildings and tenant improvemet 2,856,41! 2,880,63:
Land held for developmel 104,14 104,14t
3,298,21! 3,335,31
Les<accumulated depreciatic (798,819 (781,079
Net real estate ass¢ 2,499,40! 2,554,24.
For-sale residential condominiur 10,12¢ 12,93:
Real estate and other assets, net, held fo 1,22¢ 5,031
Cash and cash equivalel 35,84: 23,69¢
Restricted cas 6,241 6,841
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $3,326 $2810, respectivel 20,44( 21,06¢
Mortgages and notes receivable, net of allowan&r @l and $698, respective 20,14 3,14:
Accrued straigl-line rents receivable, net of allowance of $2,408$2,443, respectivel 87,027 82,60(
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat 62,63: 66,07"
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdated amortization of $53,539 and $52,129,
respectively 72,35( 73,517
Prepaid expenses and other as 39,67+ 37,94
Total Assets $ 2,855,11. $ 2,887,10.
Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership and Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,463,72° $ 1,469,15!
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritied 105,31t 117,32¢
Financing obligation 33,60: 37,70¢
Total Liabilities 1,602,64 1,624,18
Commitments and contingenci
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr: 105,40¢ 129,76
Equity:
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 autbdrshares
8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable PreferredeStfquidation preference $1,00
per share), 29,092 shares issued and outsta 29,09: 29,09:
8.000% Series B Cumulative Redeemable PreferreteSifliquidation preference $25 p
share), 2,100,000 shares issued and outsta 52,50( 52,50(
Common Stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdshares
71,614,985 and 71,285,303 shares issued and aditsganespectivel 71€ 713
Additional paic-in capital 1,779,52. 1,751,39i
Distributions in excess of net income availabledommon stockholde! (716,79() (701,93)
Accumulated other comprehensive i (3,27%) (3.81))
Total Stockholder Equity 1,141,76 1,127,96!
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia 5,28¢ 5,18¢
Total Equity 1,147,05! 1,133,14.
Total Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in tl@perating Partnership and
Equity $ 2,855,11 $ 2,887,10.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Unaudited and in thousands, except per share asjoun

Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administratiy
Total operating expens
Interest expense:
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos

Financing obligation

Other income:
Interest and other incon

Gain on debt extinguishme

Income from continuing operations before dispositio of property,
condominiums and investment in unconsolidated affihttes and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Gains on disposition of proper
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur
Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidailiates
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Income from continuing

operations

Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operatic
Net gains/(losses) on disposition of discontinupérations

Net income
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteeeim the Operating
Partnershi
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeeim consolidateaffiliates
Dividends on Preferred Sto
Net income available for common stockholders

Earnings per Common Share- basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholder
Net income available for common stockhold
Weighted average Common Shares outstan- basic

Earnings per Common Share- diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholder
Net income available for common stockhold
Weighted average Common Shares outstan- diluted

Dividends declared per Common Shar:
Net income available for common stockholders
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations avaddbt common
stockholder:

Net income available for common stockhold

See accompanying notes to consolidated financa#sients

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ 11433¢$ 11191: $ 229,39 $ 224,27
38,324 38,90: 80,03¢ 79,17¢
33,35¢ 32,51« 66,08: 65,22
6,98( 9,48¢ 15,487 17,80!
78,657 80,90: 161,60¢ 162,20
21,70¢ 19,94¢ 43,507 40,52¢
83t 68¢ 1,67(C 1,351
394 71C 87C 1,44¢
22,93¢ 21,34« 46,047 43,32(
96¢€ 2,28 2,66¢€ 3,291
— 63C — 63C
96€ 2,91¢ 2,66¢€ 3,921
13,71« 12,58: 24,40« 22,67
17 194 36 213
163 28¢ 358 63€
25,33( — 25,33( —
88¢€ 1,86: 1,68: 3,16:
40,11¢ 14,92¢ 51,80¢ 26,68
197 1,20¢ 411 2,57¢
(260) 20,94 (86) 21,01¢
(63) 22,14¢ 32E 23,59(
40,04¢ 37,07 52,13: 50,27
(1,939 (2,059 (2,459 (2,749
(215) (11€) (429 (139
(1,677 (1,677 (3,359 (3,359
$ 36,22¢ $ 33,227 $ 45,89 $ 44 ,03¢
$ 051 % 0.1¢ $ 0.6¢ $ 0.34
— 0.31 — 0.34
$ 051 $ 0.5C $ 0.64 $ 0.6¢&
71,60: 66,12: 71,50¢ 64,88
$ 0.5C $ 0.1¢ $ 0.64 $ 0.34
— 0.31 — 0.34
$ 0.5C $ 0.5C $ 0.64 $ 0.6¢&
75,607 70,23¢ 75,50¢ 68,97¢
$ 0.42t $ 0.42F $ 0.8t $ 0.8t
$ 36,28¢ $ 12,37C $ 45587 $ 21,82«
(60) 20,857 30€ 22,21¢
$ 36,22¢ $ 33,227 $ 45,89 $ 44,03¢
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQuITY
Six Months Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009

(Unaudited and in thousands, except share amounts)

Accum- Distributions
Series A Series B ulated Non- in Excess of
Number Cumulative Cumulative Other  Controlling Net Income
of RedeemabliRedeemabli Additional Compre- Interests in Available for
Common Common Preferred Preferred Paid-In hensive Consolidatec Common
Shares  Stock Shares Shares Capital Loss Affiliates  Stockholders Total

Balance at

December 31,200 71,28530$  713$  29,09:$  52,50($ 1,751,39'$ (3,81)$ 518:$ (701,93)$ 1,133,14

Issuances of Common

Stock, ne 71,56¢ 1 — — 1,061 — — —
Conversion of Commo

Units to Common

Stock 93,97: 1 — — 2,957 — — —
Dividends on Commor

Stock — — — — — — — (60,759
Dividends on Preferre(

Stock — — — — — — — (3,359
Adjustment of

noncontrolling

interests in the

Operating Partnersh

to fair value — — — — 20,61 — — —
Distributions to

noncontrolling

interests in

consolidated affiliate — — — — — — (329 —
Issuances of restricted

stock, ne’ 164,14: — — — — — — —
Share-based

compensation

expense — 1 — — 3,49¢ — — —
Net (income]

attributable to

noncontrolling

interests in the

Operating Partnersh — — — — — — — (2,459
Net (income]

attributable to

noncontrolling

interests in

consolidated affiliate — — — — — — 42¢ (429
Comprehensive incom

Net income — — — — — — — 52,13

Other comprehensiv

income — — — — — 53¢ — —

Total comprehensive

income

1,06z

2,95¢
(60,75

(3,359

20,61:

(324)

3,49

(2,459

52,13
53€

52,66

Balance at

June 30, 201 71,614,98$  71€$  29,09:$  52,50($ 177952$ (3,275$ 5,28¢$  (716,790$ 1,147,05!

Accum- Distributions

Series A Series B ulated Non- in Excess of

Number Cumulative Cumulative Other  Controlling Net Income

of RedeemabliRedeemabli Additional Compre- Interests in Available for
Common Common Preferred Preferred Paid-In hensive Consolidatec Common

Shares  Stock Shares Shares Capital Loss Affiliates  Stockholders

Total




Balance at
December 31, 200

Issuances of Common
Stock, ne

Conversion of Commo
Units to Common
Stock

Dividends on Commor
Stock

Dividends on Preferre(
Stock

Adjustment of
noncontrolling
interests in the
Operating Partnersh
to fair value

Distributions to
noncontrolling
interests in
consolidated affiliate

Issuances of restricted
stock, ne’

Share-based
compensation
expense

Net (income]
attributable to
noncontrolling
interests in the
Operating Partnersh

Net (income]
attributable to
noncontrolling
interests in
consolidated affiliate

Comprehensive incom
Net income
Other comprehensiv

income

Total comprehensive
income

Balance at
June 30, 200

63,571,70%$ 63€$  29,09:$  52,50($ 1,616,09:$ (4,799)% 6,17¢$ (639,28)$% 1,060,42-
7,027,22 70 — — 144,19: — — — 144,26:
8,291 — — — 18¢ — — — 18¢

_ _ _ _ — — — (54,089 (54,087

_ _ _ _ — — — (3,359 (3,359

— _ — — 19,59 — — — 19,59

— — — — — — (24E) — (245)
240,74 — — — — — — — —
— 2 — — 3,571 — — — 3,57%

_ _ _ _ — — — (2,749 (2,749

_ _ _ — — — 134 (134) —

_ _ _ _ — — — 50,27¢ 50,27¢

— — — — — 46E — — 468
50,73¢

70,847,96$  70€$  29,09:$ 52,50($ 1,783,64'$ (4,327,% 6,065$  (649,326$ 1,218,35

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLows
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2010 2009
Operating activities:
Net income $ 52,13: $ 50,27«
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigenl by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 66,44 66,51(
Amortization of lease incentive 537 54¢
Shar-based compensation expel 3,49 3,57¢
Additions to allowance for doubtful accoul 2,63¢ 3,24¢
Amortization of deferred financing cos 1,67(C 1,351
Amortization of past ca-flow hedges 287 (147)
Gain on debt extinguishme — (630
Net (gains)/losses on disposition of prope 50 (21,229
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur (359 (63€)
Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidailiates (25,330) —
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia (1,689 (3,162
Changes in financing obligatio 81 584
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &fis 1,715 2,081
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Accounts receivabl (1,430 1,85z
Prepaid expenses and other as 1,73¢ (1,296
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl (5,296 (3,637
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitied 3,352 5,351
Net cash provided by operating activit 100,04 104,63¢
Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lgasists (38,297 (68,857
Net proceeds from disposition of real estate a 6,801 61,55¢
Net proceeds from disposition of -sale residential condominiur 3,18¢ 5,21¢
Proceeds from disposition of investment in uncadstéd affiliates 15,00( —
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated atities 1,10€ 2,87¢
Repayments of mortgages and notes recei\ 29 272
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat (303 (500
Changes in restricted cash and other investingitie (3,179 (12,020
Net cash used in investing activiti (15,659 (11,449
Financing activities:
Dividends on Common Stoc (60,757 (54,087
Dividends on Preferred Sto (3,359 (3,359
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in thedating Partnershi (3,249 (3,449
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in coridated affiliates (329 (24%)
Net proceeds from the issuance of Common S 1,062 144,26«
Borrowings on revolving credit facilit 4,00( 122,00(
Repayments of revolving credit facili (4,000 (177,000
Borrowings on mortgages and notes payi — 53,42¢
Repayments of mortgages and notes pay (5,452) (173,846
Additions to deferred financing cos (188 (1,297
Net cash used in financing activiti (72,257 (93,57%
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis. 12,14« (38%)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the ¢b 23,69¢ 13,75;
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the pi $ 3584 1337

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAsH FLows — Continued
(Unaudited and in thousands)
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2010 2009

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capital $ 43204 $  43,38¢

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2010 2009

Unrealized gains on ce-flow hedges $ — $ 414
Conversion of Common Units to Common

Stock $ 2,95¢ $ 18¢
Change in accrued capital expenditures $ (2,299 $ (4,915
Write-off of fully depreciated real estate assets $ 24.27: $ 16,54
Write-off of fully amortized deferred financing and leagicosts $ 7,962 $ 11,22¢
Unrealized gains/(losses) on marketable secunfie®r-qualified deferreccompensation pla $ 174 $ (367)
Settlement of financing obligatic $ 4,18 $ —
Adjustment of noncontrolling interests in the Opirg Partnership to fair vall $ (20,619)% (19,599
Unrealized gain on tax increment financing

bond $ 14€ $ 192
Mortgages receivable from seller financing $ 17,03( $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NoOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sfre data)
(Unaudited)
1. DeSCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLICIES
Description of Business

The Company is a fully-integrated, self-administieeand self-managed equity real estate investmast (fREIT”) that operates in tl
Southeastern and Midwestern United States. The @oyngonducts virtually all of its activities thrdughe Operating Partnership.
June 30, 2010, the Company and/or the Operatinmétahip wholly owned 295 iservice office, industrial and retail propertiesmprising
26.8 million square feet; 96 rental residentialtsinb81 acres of undeveloped land suitable forréutievelopment, of which 490 acres
considered core holdings; one office property undevelopment; one recently developed office prgpénat is in service but not
stabilized; and 32 for-sale residential condomirsumhich are owned through a consolidated, majantyed joint venture).

The Company is the sole general partner of the &iper Partnership. At June 30, 2010, the Companyeohall of the Preferred Un
and 71.2 million, or 95.0%, of the Common Unitsmited partners (including one officer and two dioes of the Company) own t
remaining 3.8 million Common Units. Generally, ®perating Partnership is obligated to redeem eawmhr@on Unit at the request of
holder thereof for cash equal to the value of dre of Common Stock, $.01 par value, based omakeage of the market price for the
trading days immediately preceding the notice datmuch redemption provided that the Company,sabjition, may elect to acquire any s
Common Units presented for redemption for cash ree share of Common Stock. The Common Units ownedhbyCompany are r
redeemable. During the six months ended June 3M,2Me Company redeemed 93,971 Common Units fllkeanumber of shares
Common Stock, which increased the percentage ofn@mmUnits owned by the Company from 94.8% at Deeerth, 2009 to 95.0%
June 30, 2010.

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are preperemnformity with accounting principles generaligcepted in the United Sta
(“GAAP”). Our Consolidated Statements of Income for the tlarek six months ended June 30, 2009 were revised fireviously reporte
amounts to reflect in discontinued operations tperations for those properties sold or held foe ghlring 2009 and the first six month:
2010 which required discontinued operations predEmt Prior period amounts related to additiongltowance for doubtful accounts ¢
amortization of lease commissions in our ConsodidaStatements of Cash Flows have been reclassdi@dnform to the current peri
presentation.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include ther@ting Partnership, wholly owned subsidiaries #nage entities in which we he
the controlling financial interest. All significanhtercompany transactions and accounts have béeanna&ted. At June 30, 2010 a
December 31, 2009, we were not involved with artjties that were deemed to be variable interestiesit

The unaudited interim consolidated financial stagats and accompanying unaudited consolidated fiagimformation, in the opinion
management, contain all adjustments (including mbmacurring accruals) necessary for a fair predent of our financial position, results
operations and cash flows. We have omitted certaias and other information from the interim coigadkd financial statements presente
this Quarterly Report on Form 1D-as permitted by SEC rules and regulations. Ti@ssesolidated Financial Statements should be re
conjunction with our 2009 Annual Report on FormKLO-
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

NoTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

1. DEScCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies - Continued
Use of Estimates

The preparation of these Consolidated Financiak8tants in accordance with GAAP requires us to negtienates and assumptions
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateahfimal statements and accompanying notes. Actaaltsecould differ from those estimates.

2. ReAL ESTATE ASSETS
Dispositions

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, we selein office properties in our Piedmont Triad, Nggreent for gross proceeds
$12.9 million. In connection with this dispositiome received cash of $4.5 million and providedesefinancing of $8.4 million (recorded
mortgages and notes receivable) and committednt Ug to an additional $1.7 million for tenant impements and lease commissions.
three-year, intereginly first mortgage carries a 6.0% average inter@st Assuming no default exists, the note caextended by the buy
for two additional onerear periods, subject to an increase in the inteags to 7.0% in the fourth year and to 8.0% & fifth year. We hay
accounted for this disposition using the installimaethod, whereby the $0.4 million gain on disgosiof property has been deferred and
be recognized when the seller financing is repaid.

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, wesalkbsix industrial properties in our Piedmont @ri&lC segment for gross proceed
$12.0 million. In connection with this dispositiome received cash of $3.4 million and providedesdfihancing of $8.6 million (recorded
mortgages and notes receivable) and a limitedgeatantee with maximum exposure to loss of $1.0anil The three-year, interestily first
mortgage carries a 6.25% average interest rateindiag no default exists, the note can be extengeithd buyer for two additional ongeal
periods, subject to an increase in the interestt@.0% in the fourth year and to 7.75% in tffih fyear. We currently do not believe a |
from the rent guarantee is probable. We have a¢eduor this disposition using the installment noethwhereby the $0.3 million impairmu
was recognized in net gains/(losses) on dispositfatiscontinued operations in the second quaift@da0.

Additionally, during the six months ended JuneZm0, we recorded a completed sale in connectith thie disposition of an offi
property in our Raleigh, NC segment in the fourttaer of 2009 where the buyeright to compel us to repurchase the propertyred,
Accordingly, we recognized the $0.2 million gaindiaposition of property in the first quarter ofZ20
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

NoTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)

3. INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATES
Unconsolidated Affiliates

We have equity interests ranging from 10.0% to ®0il various joint ventures with unrelated thirdtps. The following table sets fo
the combined, summarized income statements foueconsolidated joint ventures:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Income Statements
Revenues $ 31,71+ $ 37,347 $ 67,30: $ 76,21¢
Expenses:
Rental property and other expen 15,63: 18,06 32,79¢ 36,70¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 7,77¢ 8,85: 17,37¢ 17,72¢
Interest expens 7,238 8,86¢ 15,79¢ 17,84’
Total expense 30,64: 35,78¢ 65,97¢ 72,27
Income before disposition of property 1,071 1,56 1,325 3,94t
Gains on disposition of proper — 3,42¢ — 3,42¢
Net income $ 1,07] $ 4,98E $ 1,32-1 $ 7,37:]
Our share of:
Net income(l) $ 88¢ $ 1,862 $ 1,68: $ 3,162
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a: $ 27313 3220$ 607§ 647
|nterest expens $ 2,755 $ 3,542 $ 6,17E $ 7,12(
Gain on disposition of proper $ — 3 781 $ — 3 781
Q) Our share of net income differs from our weégghaverage ownership percentage in the joint vestoet income due to our purch

accounting and other adjustments related priméilpanagement and leasing fe

In the second quarter of 2010, we sold our equitgrests in a series of unconsolidated joint vestuelating to properties in Des Moir
IA. The assets in the joint ventures included 2ilion square feet of office (1.7 million squareef} industrial (788,000 square feet) and r
(45,000 square feet) properties, as well as 41&rapat units. In connection with the closing, weeaiged $15.0 million in cash. We ha
negative book basis in certain of the joint versumimarily as a result of prior cash distribusdio the partners. Accordingly, we recor
gain on disposition of investment in unconsolideafiliates of $25.3 million in the second quartér2010. As of the closing date, the jc
ventures had approximately $170 million of secudetht, which was norecourse to us except (1) in the case of custoreacgption
pertaining to matters such as misuse of funds, ob@r bankruptcy, unpermitted transfers, environmlemonditions and mater
misrepresentations and (2) approximately $9.0 amlbf direct and indirect guarantees. We have beleased by the applicable lenders f
all such direct and indirect guarantees and we navengoing lender liability relating to such custiry exceptions to norecourse liabilit
with respect to some, but not all, of the debt. Bhger has agreed to indemnify and hold us harnftess any and all future losses that
suffer as a result of our prior investment in tbim ventures (other than losses directly resulfiogn our acts or omissions). In the even
are exposed to any such future loss, our finamaatlition and results of operations would not beeaskly affected unless the buyer defe
on its indemnification obligation.
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3. NVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATES - Continued

Consolidated Affiliates

We own a majority interest in Plaza ResidentialCL{:Plaza Residential”), a joint venture which waemed to develop and sell 139 for-
sale residential condominiums constructed aboveffice tower developed by us in Raleigh, NC. Bate residential condominiums in
Consolidated Balance Sheets include 32 and 40 &tethl but unsold, condominiums owned by Plaza Resiml at June 30, 2010 ¢
December 31, 2009, respectively. We initially recoeceipts of earnest money deposits in accounjabb@ accrued expenses and c
liabilities in accordance with the deposit methdde then record completed sales when units closetlademaining net cash is recei
During the three months ended June 30, 2010 an@, 208 received $1.3 million and $2.2 million, resipeely, in gross proceeds &
recorded $1.1 million and $1.9 million, respectijedf cost of goods sold from condominium salesvagt During the six months end
June 30, 2010 and 2009, we received $3.5 milliosh $H5 million, respectively, in gross proceeds dad $3.1 million and $4.9 millio
respectively, of cost of goods sold from condomimisales activity.

4. DeFerRRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS
The following table sets forth total deferred ficarg and leasing costs, net of accumulated amdidiza

June 30, December 31

2010 2009
Deferred financing cos $ 16,88: $ 16,81:
Less accumulated amortizati (6,120 (4,549
10,76 12,26
Deferred leasing cos 109,00¢ 108,83!
Less accumulated amortizati (47,419 (47,580
61,58 61,25¢
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net $ 72,350 $ 73,51,
Amortization of deferred financing and leasing sosere as follows:
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2010 2009 2010 2009
Amortization of deferred financing cos $ 83t $ 68¢ $ 1,67C $ 1,351
Amortization of lease commissions (included in éspation and amortizatiol $ 3811 $ 3,92¢ $ 7,58: % 7,792
Amortization of lease incentives (included in rémtad other revenue $ 27¢ $ 25C $ 537 $ 54¢

The following table sets forth scheduled future aimation for deferred financing and leasing costs:

Amortization
of Deferred Amortization Amortization

Financing of Lease of Lease

Costs Commissions Incentives
June 30, 2010 through December 31, 2 $ 1,38¢ $ 6,557 $ 47¢
2011 2,51 12,09¢ 91€
2012 2,32( 10,09t 82¢
2013 1,19¢ 8,26¢ 682
2014 48¢ 6,26¢ 494
Thereafter 2,85¢ 13,57 1,331
$ 10,761 $ 56,85¢ $ 4,731
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5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE
The following table sets forth our consolidated tgages and notes payable:

June 30, December 31

2010 2009
Secured indebtedness $ 715,24( $ 720,72
Unsecured indebtedness 748,48’ 748,42¢
Total mortgages and notes payable $ 1,463,727 $ 1,469,15!

At June 30, 2010, our secured mortgage loans wexered by real estate assets with an aggregatepreuigted book value of $:
billion.

Our $400.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagiis scheduled to mature on February 21, 2013iaclddes an accordion feature
allows for an additional $50.0 million of borrowirgpacity subject to additional lender commitmeAssuming we continue to have th
publicly announced ratings from the credit ratimgeracies, the interest rate and facility fee underrevolving credit facility are based on
lower of the two highest publicly announced ratinBased on our current credit ratings, the interat is LIBOR plus 290 basis points .
the annual facility fee is 60 basis points. Thereravno amounts outstanding under our revolving icredility at June 30, 2010 a
July 22, 2010. At June 30, 2010 and July 22, 20d had $1.1 million of outstanding letters of ctedihich reduces the availability on
revolving credit facility. As a result, the unuseapacity of our revolving credit facility at Jun@, 2010 and July 22, 2010 was $398.9 million.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility,which $41.7 million was outstanding at June 3A,®0s initially scheduled to matt
on December 20, 2010. Assuming no defaults haverosd, we have options to extend the maturity fatéwo successive ongear periods
The interest rate is LIBOR plus 85 basis pointsr ®ecured construction facility had $28.3 millioh availability at June 30, 2010 a
July 22, 2010.

We are currently in compliance with all debt covaisaand requirements.

6. [ERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We had no outstanding interest rate hedge contaadisne 30, 2010 or December 31, 2009. The fotiguable sets forth the effect of «
past cash-flow hedges on accumulated other compseleeloss (“AOCL”") and interest expense:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Derivatives Designated as Cas-flow Hedges:
Unrealized gain recognized in AOCL on derivativeBgctive portion)
Interest rate hedge contra $ -3 217s =% 414
(Gain)/lossreclassified out of AOCL into interest expensedefifve portion:
Interest rate hedge contra $ 48 u) $ 28719 141
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7. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership

Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngrsklate to the ownership of Common Units by vasiondividuals and entities ott
than the Company. The following table sets forthaumtrolling interests in the Operating Partnership

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2010 2009

Beginning noncontrolling interests in the Operatiartnershij $ 129,764 $ 111,27¢
Adjustments of noncontrolling interests in the Gytierg Partnership to fair valt (20,617 (19,599
Conversion of Common Units to Common St (2,959 (189
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interdstthe Operating Partnerst 2,45¢ 2,74¢
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in the@gting Partnershi (3,249 (3,449
Total noncontrolling interests in the OperatingtRarship $ _10540¢3 90,79

The following table sets forth the change in eqéiom net income available for common stockholderd transfers from noncontrolli
interests:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net income available for common stockhold $ 36,22¢ $ 33,227 $ 45,89t $ 44,03¢
Conversion of Common Units to Common St 33 — 2,95¢ 18¢
Change in equity from net income available for cammstockholders and ) ) )
conversion of Common Units to Common Sti $ 3625 % 33220 % 48851 % 4422

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Affiliates

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliatedates to our respective joint venture partn&®0% interest in Highwoodstarkel
Associates, LLC and estimated 12% economic inténdBtaza Residential. Each of our joint venturgnmpexs is an unrelated third party.

8. DscLoSURE ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following summarizes the three levels of inghtst we use to measure fair value, as well agglsets, noncontrolling interests in
Operating Partnership and liabilities that we retpg at fair value using those levels of inputs.

Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identicabsssr liabilities.
Our Level 1 assets are investments in marketalglerisies which we use to pay benefits under our-qoalified deferred compensat

plan. Our Level 1 noncontrolling interests in thpe@ating Partnership relate to the ownership of @om Units by various individuals a
entities other than the Company. Our Level 1 ligbis our non-qualified deferred compensation géation.

13
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8. DscLosure ABouT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

Level 2.0bservable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sgofuated prices for similar assets or liabilitigspted prices in markets that
not active; or other inputs that are observableaor be corroborated by observable market dataufostantially the full term of the relai
assets or liabilities. We had no Level 2 asset@bilities at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009.

Level 3. Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlen@market activity and that are significant to fag value of the assets
liabilities.

Our Level 3 assets are our tax increment finanbgd, which is not routinely traded but whose failue is determined using an estin
of projected redemption value based on quoted $hdggices for similar unrated municipal bonds, aeal estate assets recorded at fair \
on a non-recurring basis as a result of our qugripairment analysis, which were valued usingeipendent appraisals.

The following tables set forth the assets, nonatlitig interests in the Operating Partnership aaklility that we measure at fair value
level within the fair value hierarchy. We determthe level based on the lowest level of substantigat used to determine fair value.

Level 1 Level 3
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Significant
June 30, Assets or Unobservable
2010 Liabilities Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities of non-qualified deferred pemsation plan (in prepaid
expenses and other asst $ 328: $ 3,28: $ —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensekather assets) 17,017 — 17,017
Total Assets $ 20,30( $ 3,28: $ 17,01-1
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership $ 105,40¢ $ 105,40¢ $ —
Liability:
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligation (in@eus payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilitie $ 3,79¢ §$ 379¢ § —
Level 1 Level 3
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Significant
December 31 Assets or Unobservable
2009 Liabilities Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 6,13t $ 6,13t $ —
Tax increment financing bor 16,87 — 16,87:
Impaired real estate ass 32,00( — 32,00(
Tota| Assets $ 55,00( $ 6,135 $ 48,87:
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnershp $ 129,76¢ $ 129,76¢ $ —
Liability:
$ 6,89¢ $ 6,89¢ $ —

Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat
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8. DscLosURE ABouT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

The following table sets forth our Level 3 asset:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Asset:
Tax Increment Financing Bond

Beginning balanc $ 17,09C $ 17,43¢ $ 16,87. $ 17,46¢
Unrealized gain/(loss) (in AOCL (73) 22¢€ 14¢€ 192
Ending ba|anc' $ 17,01-1 $ 17,66( $ 17,01-1 $ 17,66(

In the fourth quarter of 2007, we acquired the it@orement financing bond associated with a propdeyeloped by us. This ba
amortizes to maturity in 2020. The estimated falue at June 30, 2010 was $2.2 million below thistanding principal due on the bond.
currently intend to hold this bond and do not hali¢that we will be required to sell this bond befeecovery of the bond principal. Paymer
the principal and interest for the bond is guaradtey us and, therefore, we have recorded no dasdies related to the bond in the three
six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009. Them lisgal right of offset with the liability, which evreport as a financing obligation, rele
to this tax increment financing bond.

The following table sets forth the carrying amouamsl fair values of our financial instruments:

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

June 30, 2010

Cash and cash equivalel $ 35,84: $ 35,84
Restricted cas $ 6,241 $ 6,241
Accounts, mortgages and notes receivi $ 40,58¢ $ 40,58¢
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 3,28: $ 3,28:
Tax increment financing bor $ 17,017 $ 17,017
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,463,72 $ 1,502,52
Financing obligation $ 33,60 $ 24,18t
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat $ 3,79¢ $ 3,79¢
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr: $ 105,40¢ $ 105,40¢
December 31, 200!

Cash and cash equivalel $ 23,69¢ $ 23,69¢
Restricted cas $ 6,841 $ 6,841
Accounts, mortgages and notes receivi $ 2421 $ 24,21
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 6,13t $ 6,13¢
Tax increment financing bor $ 16,87. $ 16,87:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,469,15' $ 1,440,371
Financing obligation $ 37,70¢ $ 31,66
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat $ 6,89¢ $ 6,89¢
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr: $ 129,76¢ $ 129,76¢
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8. DscLosURE ABouT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

The carrying values of our cash and cash equivaleastricted cash, accounts receivable, mortgagdsnotes receivable, market¢
securities of non-qualified deferred compensatitanptax increment financing bond, nqnalified deferred compensation obligation
noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigrsine equal to or approximate fair value. The Yailues of our mortgages and notes pay
and financing obligations were estimated usingitlteme or market approaches to approximate thee ghat would be paid in an orde
transaction between market participants on theeasge measurement date.

9. S$IARE-BASED PAYMENTS

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, we gdanhder our 2009 Long Term Equity Incentive Pldre (‘Plan”) 190,826 stoc
options at an exercise price equal to the closiagket price of a share of our Common Stock on thie @f grant. The fair value of e:
option grant is estimated on the date of grantqu#tie Black-Scholes option pricing model, whichutesd in a weighte@verage grant de
fair value per share of $4.96. During the six msrehded June 30, 2010, we also granted under &neS8B|635 shares of tinb&sed restricte
stock and 78,151 shares of total return-basedigtestrstock with weightedverage grant date fair values per share of $28m5$29.4(
respectively. We recorded stobksed compensation expense of $1.4 million and @lll®&n during the three months ended June 300
and 2009, respectively, and $3.5 million and $3iian during the six months ended June 30, 2010 2009, respectively. At June 30, 2(
there was $9.7 million of total unrecognized stbelsed compensation costs, which will be recogniest a weighted average remair
contractual term of 1.7 years.

10. (OMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSs

The following table sets forth the components afipeehensive income:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net income $ 40,04¢ $ 37,07¢ $ 52,13: $ 50,27+
Other comprehensive income/(los
Unrealized gain/(loss) on tax increment financiogdb (73 22¢ 14¢€ 192
Unrealized gains on ce-flow hedges — 217 — 414
Amortization of past ca-flow hedges 48 (72) 287 (141)
Settlement of past cash-flow hedge from dispositibimvestment in
unconsolidated affiliat 10c — 10¢ —
Total other comprehensive incor 78 37z 53€ 465
Total Comprehensive incon $ 40,1ZA $ 37,44( $ 52,66A $ 50,73S

The following table sets forth the components of O

June 30, December 31

2010 2009
Tax increment financing bond $ 2,22( $ 2,36¢
Past cas-flow hedges 1,05¢ 1,44¢
Total accumulated other comprehensive
loss $ 3,27 $ 3,811
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11. DsCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth our operations whielguired classification as discontinued operatiditee assets associated with tt
discontinued operations comprised 1.7 million squaet of office, industrial and retail propertsedd during 2009 and the six months er
June 30, 2010.

Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009

Rental and other revenues $ 655 $ 2,781 $ 1,43: $ 6,382
Operating expenses

Rental property and other expen 274 1,00 65€ 2,522

Depreciation and amortizatic 182 S7z 36% 1,28

Total operating expens 45€ 1,57 1,021 3,80¢

Other income — (1) — 1

Income before net gains/(losses) on disposition discontinued operations 197 1,20 411 2,57¢

Net gains/(losses) on disposition of discontinupérations (260) 20,94: (86) 21,01¢

Total discontinued operations u@) $ 221468 32t $ 23,59

The following table sets forth the major classeassfets and liabilities of the properties clasgifis held for sale:

June 30, December 31

2010 2009
Assets:

Land $ — $ 867
Buildings and tenant improvements — 3,87¢
Land held for development 1,19; 1,19:
Total real estate assets 1,19 5,94(
Less accumulated depreciation — (1,484
Net real estate asst 1,197 4,45¢
Deferred leasing costs, r — 20¢
Accrued straight line rents receival — 28¢
Prepaid expenses and other assets 32 77
Real estate and other assets, net, held for s: $ 1,22¢ $ 5,031
Liabilities of real estate and other assets, redt] for sale() $ 12 $ 12

(1) Included in accounts payable, accrued expensestand liabilities.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted earnings per Common Share:

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Earnings per Common Share - basic:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 40,117 $ 14,92¢ $ 51,80¢ $ 26,68
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling int&iein the Operating
Partnership from continuing operatic (1,936 (765) (2,436 (1,372
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeeim consolidated affiliates
from continuing operation (21%) (11€) (429 (139
Dividends on Preferred Sto (1,677 (1,677 (3,359 (3,359
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder 36,28¢ 12,37( 45,58 21,82«
Income/(loss) from discontinued operatic (63) 22,14¢ 32t 23,59(
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests in the Operating
Partnership from discontinued operatic 3 (1,289 (X)) (1,376
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations avaddbt common
stockholders (60) 20,85 30¢€ 22,21¢
Net income available for common stockhold $ 3622¢3 33220$ 4589 $ 44,03
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common S- weighted average shar ____71.60: ___ 66,12: 71,50t 64,88
Earnings per Common She- basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder $ 0.51 % 0.1¢ $ 0.64 $ 0.34
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon stockholder — 0.31 — 0.34
Net income available for common stockhold $ 0513 0508  064%  0.6€
Earnings per Common Share - diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 40,111 $ 14,92¢ $ 51,80¢ $ 26,68
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeeim consolidated affiliates
from continuing operation (21%) (11€) (429 (139
Dividends on Preferred Sto (1,677 (1,677 (3,359 (3,359
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders
before net (income) attributable to noncontrollintgrests in the
Operating Partnersh 38,22( 13,13¢ 48,02: 23,19¢
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations avaddbt common
stockholders (63) 22,14¢ 32E 23,59(
Net income available for common stockholders befmte(income)
attributable to noncontrolling interests in the Gytimg §
Partnershir $ 38,151 $ 35,28: $ 48,342 $ 46,78(
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common S—weighted averagshares 71,60 66,12: 71,50¢ 64,88
Add:
Stock options using the treasury metl 20¢ 49 18¢ 30
Noncontrolling interests partnership ur 3,79i 4,06: 3,80¢ 4,06¢
Denominator for diluted earnings per Common Shaadjusted weighted i
average shares and assumed conver;(1) ___ /5600 7023« 75,50«  68,97¢
Earnings per Common She- diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder $ 0.5C $ 0.1¢ $ 0.64 $ 0.34
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon stockholder — 0.31 — 0.34
$ 0.5C $ 0.5C $ 0.64 $ 0.6¢

Net income available for common stockhold
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12. ERNINGS PER SHARE — Continued

(1) Options and warrants aggregating approximatelynilbon and 1.2 million shares were outstandingidgrthe three months enc
June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and 0.6 anillatnd 1.3 million shares were outstanding during $ix months end
June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, but werdénutitded in the computation of diluted earnings @@mmon Share because
impact of including such shares would be -dilutive .

13. SGMENT |NFORMATION

Our principal business is the operation, acquisiaiod development of rental real estate propenfiesevaluate our business by prot
type and by geographic location. Each product tyge different customers and economic characteyiaicto rental rates and terms, cos
square foot of buildings, the purposes for whiclstomers use the space, the degree of maintenamceustomer support required :
customer dependency on different economic drivaarspng others. The operating results by geograpioigping are also regularly review
by our chief operating decision maker for assesgarfprmance and other purposes. There are noialdteer-segment transactions.

Our accounting policies of the segments are theesgsrthose used in our Consolidated Financial iG&tes. All operations are within 1
United States and, at June 30, 2010, no singleowst of the Wholly Owned Properties generated mbas 9.5% of our consolidat
revenues on an annualized basis.

The following table summarizes the rental and otkeenues and net operating income, the primanysitng propertylevel performanc
metric which is defined as rental and other reveress rental property and other expenses, for egootable segment:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Rental and Other Revenues(1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 12,067 $ 12,10¢ $ 24,19¢ $ 23,60
Greenville, SC 3,451 3,60( 7,127 7,231
Kansas City, MC 3,66: 3,711 7,371 7,45¢
Memphis, TN 7,32¢ 7,407 15,197 14,43¢
Nashville, TN 14,85 15,41¢ 29,96¢ 30,59:
Orlando, FL 3,05¢ 2,84t 6,06t 5,79¢
Piedmont Triad, N( 5,971 5,96¢ 11,92: 11,85:
Raleigh, NC 18,497 18,09: 37,257 36,30:
Richmond, VA 11,48 11,23¢ 23,27 22,94
Tampa, FL 18,03¢ 16,58¢ 35,98( 33,125
Total Office Segmer 98,41° 96,97( 198,36( 193,35
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 3,84z 3,931 7,811 7,871
Piedmont Triad, NC 3,041 2,961 6,062 7,00¢
Total Industrial Segmet 6,88: 6,89: 13,87¢ 14,87,
Retail:
Kansas City, MC 8,74¢ 7,66¢ 16,431 15,27
Piedmont Triad, N( (40) 57 (40 11z
Raleigh, NC 28 30 75 60
Total Retail Segmer 8,73¢ 7,751 16,47 15,45(
Residential
Kansas City, MO 30:< 301 682 594
Total Residential Segme 30: 301 68z 594
Total Rental and Other Revenues $ 11433¢$ 11191+ $ 229390 $ 224,27
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13. SGMENT INFORMATION — Continued

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net Operating Income: (1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 7,83t $ 8,03¢$ 1547($ 15,01¢
Greenville, SC 2,16¢ 2,33¢ 4,45( 4,62¢
Kansas City, MC 2,32i 2,261 4,54( 4,50¢
Memphis, TN 4,22: 4,04¢ 9,50¢ 8,06¢
Nashville, TN 10,06t  10,20¢ 19,93¢ 19,93
Orlando, FL 1,72: 1,46( 3,33¢ 3,03¢
Piedmont Triad, N( 4,221 4,071 7,851 7,89t
Raleigh, NC 13,13.  12,67¢ 25,83 24,78¢
Richmond, VA 8,40¢ 8,06: 16,35¢ 16,06!
Tampa, FL 10,99: 9,51¢ 21,81: 19,39¢
Total Office Segmer 65,09: 62,67¢ 129,10: 123,32.
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 2,79: 2,944 5,56: 6,008
Piedmont Triad, NC 2,32¢ 2,207 4,372 5,53
Total Industrial Segmet 5,11¢ 5,151 9,93t 11,53¢
Retail:
Atlanta, GA(2) (5) (6) (10) (12)
Kansas City, MC 5,747 5,08¢ 10,09¢ 9,93¢
Piedmont Triad, N( (40 45 (40 88
Raleigh, NC 3 8 18 11
Total Retail Segmer 5,70¢ 5,13 10,06¢ 10,02/
Residential
Kansas City, MC 18¢ 18¢ 42¢ 354
Raleigh, NC(2) (88) (130 (176 (139
Total Residential Segme 10C 53 25C 21¢
Total Net Operating Income 76,01t  73,01¢ 149,35: 145,09¢
Reconciliation to income from continuing operationsbefore disposition of property,
condominiums and investment in unconsolidated affihttes and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates:
Depreciation and amortizatic (33,35Y) (32,519 (66,08:) (65,227
General and administrative expel (6,980  (9,48¢) (15,487) (27,807
Interest expens (22,939 (21,344 (46,04°) (43,320
Interest and other incon 96€ 2,914 2,66¢ 3,921
Income from continuing operations before dispositié property, condominiums and
investment in unconsolidated affiliates and eqiritgarnings of unconsolidated
affiliates $ 1371$ 12,58°$ 24,40: 3 22,67
(1) Net of discontinued operatior
2 Negative NOI with no corresponding revenues reprssexpensed real estate taxes and other carrgstg associated with land h

for development that is currently zoned for thepeesive product type
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14. SBSEQUENT EVENTS
Acquisitions

In July 2010, we acquired a 336,000 square foat®fbroperty in Memphis, TN for $10.0 million instaand the assumption of sect
debt expected to be recorded at fair value of apprately $40.3 million, with an implied interesteesof 6.4%. The debt matures in Noven

2015. We expect to incur or have incurred approteétyeb2.3 million of neaterm building improvements and approximately $0idlion of
acquisition-related costs.
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June 30, December 31

2010 2009
Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land $ 337,65t $ 350,53
Buildings and tenant improvemet 2,856,41! 2,880,63;
Land held for developmel 104,14 104,14t
3,298,21! 3,335,31
Les<accumulated depreciatic (798,819 (781,079
Net real estate asse 2,499,40! 2,554,24.
For-sale residential condominiur 10,12¢ 12,93
Real estate and other assets, net, held fol 1,22¢ 5,031
Cash and cash equivalel 35,74¢ 23,51¢
Restricted cas 6,241 6,841
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $3,326 $2810, respectivel 20,62¢ 21,06¢
Mortgages and notes receivable, net of allowan&7 @l and $698, respective 20,14 3,14:
Accrued straigl-line rents receivable, net of allowance of $2,408 $2,443, respectivel 87,02' 82,60(
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat 61,47" 64,89«
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdated amortization of $53,539 and $52,129,
respectively 72,35( 73,51"
Prepaid expenses and other as 39,63¢ 37,94,
Total Assets $ 2,854,000 $ 2,885,73!
Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnership Unitsand Capital:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,463,72° $ 1,469,15!
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitied 105,32: 117,33:
Financing obligation 33,60 37,70¢
Total Liabilities 1,602,65: 1,624,19;
Commitments and contingenci
Redeemable Operating Partnership Ut
Common Units, 3,797,150 and 3,891,121 outstandewpectively 105,40¢ 129,76¢
Series A Preferred Units (liquidation preferenced®0 per unit), 29,092 shares issued and
outstanding 29,09: 29,09:
Series B Preferred Units (liquidation preferencB $&r unit), 2,100,000 shares issued and
outstanding 52,50( 52,50(
Total Redeemable Operating Partnership L 187,00: 211,36
Capital:
Common Units
General partner Common Units, 750,033 and 747,6f€anding, respective 10,62( 10,48¢
Limited partner Common Units, 70,456,143 and 70,828 outstanding, respective 1,051,72. 1,038,32
Accumulated other comprehensive | (3,275 (3,81))
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliates 5,28¢ 5,18:
Total Capital 1,064,35 1,050,18!
Total Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnergbiits and Capite $ 2,854,00" $ 2,885,73

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Unaudited and in thousands, except per unit anspunt

Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administratiy
Total operating expens
Interest expense:
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos

Financing obligation

Other income:
Interest and other incon

Gain on debt extinguishme

Income from continuing operations before dispositio of property,

condominiums and investment in unconsolidated affihttes and equity in

earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Gains on disposition of proper
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur
Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidailiates
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Income from continuing
operations
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operatic
Net gains/(losses) on disposition of discontinupérations

Net income
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteeeim consolidated
affiliates

Distributions on Preferred Uni
Net income available for common unitholders

Earnings per Common Unit - basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholder:

Net income available for common unithold

Weighted average Common Units outstanc- basic
Earnings per Common Unit - diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholder:

Net income available for common unithold
Weighted average Common Units outstanc- diluted

Distributions declared per Common U
Net income available for common unitholders
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:

Income/(loss) from discontinued operations avadldbl common unitholdel

Net income available for common unithold

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ 11433¢$ 11191: $ 229,39 $ 224,27
38,43 38,80¢ 79,82¢ 78,92¢
33,35¢ 32,51« 66,08: 65,22
6,87( 9,581 15,69 18,05:
78,657 80,90: 161,60¢ 162,20
21,70¢ 19,94¢ 43,507 40,52¢
83t 68¢ 1,67(C 1,351
394 71C 87C 1,44¢
22,93¢ 21,34« 46,047 43,32(
96¢€ 2,28 2,66¢€ 3,291
— 63C — 63C
96€ 2,91¢ 2,66¢€ 3,921
13,71« 12,58: 24,40« 22,67
17 194 36 213
163 28¢ 358 63€
25,33( — 25,33( —
871 1,847 1,672 3,11(
40,09¢ 14,91: 51,79 26,63
197 1,20¢ 411 2,57¢
(260) 20,94 (86) 21,01¢
(63) 22,14¢ 32E 23,59(
40,03: 37,05¢ 52,12( 50,22:
(21%) (11€) (429 (139
(1,677 (1,677 (3,359 (3,359
$ 38,14( $ 35,26¢ $ 48,337 $ 46,73¢
$ 0.51 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.64 $ 0.34
— 0.3z 0.01 0.34
$ 051 $ 051 $ 0.6t $ 0.6¢
74,98¢ 69,77¢ 74,907 68,53¢
$ 051 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.6¢ $ 0.34
— 0.32 — 0.34
$ 051 % 051 % 0.64 $ 0.6¢
75,19¢ 69,82¢ 75,09t 68,56¢
$ 0.42t $ 0.42F $ 0.8 $ 0.8t
$ 38,20 $ 13,12( $ 48,01: $ 23,14«
(63) 22,14¢ 32E 23,59(
$ 38,14( $ 35,26¢ $ 48,337 $ 46,73¢
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITAL

Six Months Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009

(Unaudited and in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2C

Issuance of Common Units, r

Distributions on Common Unit

Distributions on Preferred Uni

Shar-based compensation expel

Distribution to noncontrolling interests in constated
affiliates

Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair vaod
contributions/distributions from/to the General tRar

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteeein
consolidated affiliate

Comprehensive incom
Net income
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive incon
Balance at June 30, 20

Balance at December 31, 2C

Issuance of Common Units, r

Distributions on Common Unit

Distributions on Preferred Uni

Shar-based compensation expel

Distribution to noncontrolling interests in constated
affiliates

Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair valnd
contributions/distributions from/to the GeneraltRar

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeeis
consolidated affiliate

Comprehensive incom
Net income
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive incon
Balance at June 30, 20

Common Units

Accumulated Noncontrolling

Other Interests in
General Limited Comprehensive Consolidated Total
Partner Partner Loss Affiliates Capital
$ 10,48t $ 1,038,32' $ (3,810 % 518! $ 1,050,18!
11 1,051 — — 1,06z
(637) (63,017 — — (63,649
(34) (3,320 — — (3,359
35 3,46% — — 3,491
— — — (329 (3249
242 24,03¢ — — 24,28:
4 (425 — 42¢ —
521 51,59¢ — — 52,12(
— — 53€ — 53€
52,65¢
$ 10,62($ 1,051,72. $ (3,275 % 528t $ 1,064,35
Common Units
Accumulated Noncontrolling
Other Interests in
General Limited Comprehensive Consolidated Total
Partner Partner Loss Affiliates Capital
$ 9,75¢ $  966,37¢ $ (4,799 $ 6,17¢ $  977,52:
1,44: 142,82: — — 144,26:
(572 (56,60€) — — (57,179
(34) (3,320 — — (3,359
36 3,531 — — 3,57
— — — (245) (245)
20z 20,01( — — 20,21:
(1) (139) — 134 —
502 49,72( — — 50,22:
_ — 46E — 465
50,68
$ 1133 $ 1,122,40 $ (4,32 $ 6,065 $ 1,135,48!

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLows
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2010 2009
Operating activities:
Net income $ 52,12( $ 50,22:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigenl by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 66,44 66,51(
Amortization of lease incentive 537 54¢
Shar-based compensation expel 3,49 3,57¢
Additions to allowance for doubtful accoul 2,63¢ 3,24¢
Amortization of deferred financing cos 1,67(C 1,351
Amortization of past ca-flow hedges 287 (147)
Gain on debt extinguishme — (630
Net (gains)/losses on disposition of prope 50 (21,229
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur (359 (63€)
Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidailiates (25,330) —
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia (1,672 (3,110
Changes in financing obligatio 81 584
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &fis 1,704 2,05¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Accounts receivabl (1,616 1,85z
Prepaid expenses and other as 1,76¢ (1,269
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl (5,296 (3,637
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitied 3,352 5,354
Net cash provided by operating activit 99,88: 104,64¢
Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lgasists (38,297 (68,857
Net proceeds from disposition of real estate a 6,801 61,55¢
Net proceeds from disposition of -sale residential condominiur 3,18¢ 5,21¢
Proceeds from disposition of investment in uncadstéd affiliates 15,00( —
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated atities 1,10€ 2,87¢
Repayments of mortgages and notes recei\ 29 272
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat (303 (500
Changes in restricted cash and other investingitie (3,179 (12,030
Net cash used in investing activiti (15,659 (11,459
Financing activities:
Distributions on Common Uni (63,649 (57,179
Distributions on Preferred Uni (3,359 (3,359
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in coridated affiliates (329) (24%)
Net proceeds from the issuance of Common L 1,062 144,26«
Borrowings on revolving credit facilit 4,00( 122,00(
Repayments of revolving credit facili (4,000 (177,000
Borrowings on mortgages and notes payi — 53,42«
Repayments of mortgages and notes pay (5,452 (173,846
Additions to deferred financing cos (290 (1,567
Net cash used in financing activiti (72,006 (93.49)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis. 12,22¢ (307)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the gh 23,51¢ 13,64¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the p $ 3574t $ 1334

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAsH FLows - Continued
(Unaudited and in thousands)
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2010 2009

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capital $ 43204 $  43,38¢

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anthfincing activities:

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2010 2009

Unrealized gains on ce-flow hedges $ — $ 414
Change in accrued capital expenditures $ (2,299 $ (4,919
Write-off of fully depreciated real estate assets $ 24.27: $ 16,54
Write-off of fully amortized deferred financing and laagicosts $ 7,96: $ 11,22¢
Unrealized gains/(losses) on marketable secunfie®r-qualified deferreccompensation pla $ 174 $ (367)
Settlement of financing obligatic $ 4,18 $ —
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair vi $ (24360 % (20,48)
Unrealized gain on tax increment financing

bond $ 14€ $ 192
Mortgages receivable from seller financing $ 17,03C $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financassients.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NoOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)
(Unaudited)
1.  DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business

The Company is a fully-integrated, self-administieeand self-managed equity real estate investmast (fREIT”) that operates in tl
Southeastern and Midwestern United States. The @oyngonducts virtually all of its activities thrdughe Operating Partnership.
June 30, 2010, the Company and/or the Operatinmétahip wholly owned 295 iservice office, industrial and retail propertiesmprising
26.8 million square feet; 96 rental residentialtsinb81 acres of undeveloped land suitable forréutievelopment, of which 490 acres
considered core holdings; one office property undevelopment; one recently developed office prgpénat is in service but not
stabilized; and 32 for-sale residential condomirsumhich are owned through a consolidated, majantyed joint venture).

The Company is the sole general partner of the &iper Partnership. At June 30, 2010, the Companyeohall of the Preferred Un
and 71.2 million, or 95.0%, of the Common Unitsmited partners (including one officer and two dioes of the Company) own t
remaining 3.8 million Common Units. Generally, ®perating Partnership is obligated to redeem eawmhr@on Unit at the request of
holder thereof for cash equal to the value of dmres of Common Stock, $.01 par value, based omatbeage of the market price for the
trading days immediately preceding the notice datmuch redemption provided that the Company,sabjition, may elect to acquire any s
Common Units presented for redemption for cash ree share of Common Stock. The Common Units ownedhbyCompany are r
redeemable. During the six months ended June 3M@,2he Company redeemed 93,971 Common Units filkeanumber of shares
Common Stock, which increased the percentage of@mmUnits owned by the Company from 94.8% at Deeerth, 2009 to 95.0%
June 30, 2010.

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are preperemnformity with accounting principles generaligcepted in the United Sta
(“GAAP”). Our Consolidated Statements of Income for the tlarek six months ended June 30, 2009 were revised fireviously reporte
amounts to reflect in discontinued operations tperations for those properties sold or held foe ghlring 2009 and the first six month:
2010 which required discontinued operations predEmt Prior period amounts related to additiongltowance for doubtful accounts ¢
amortization of lease commissions in our ConsodidaStatements of Cash Flows have been reclassdi@dnform to the current peri
presentation.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include wholned subsidiaries and those entities in whichhaee the controlling financi
interest. All significant intercompany transacticaared accounts have been eliminated. At June 3@ 284 December 31, 2009, we were
involved with any entities that were deemed to &gable interest entities.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial stagats and accompanying unaudited consolidated fiagimformation, in the opinion
management, contain all adjustments (including mbmecurring accruals) necessary for a fair pregant of our financial position, results
operations and cash flows. We have omitted certaias and other information from the interim coigadkd financial statements presente
this Quarterly Report on Form 1D-as permitted by SEC rules and regulations. Ti@ssesolidated Financial Statements should be re
conjunction with our 2009 Annual Report on FormKLO-
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NoTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

1. DEScCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies - Continued
Use of Estimates

The preparation of these Consolidated Financiak8tants in accordance with GAAP requires us to negtienates and assumptions
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateahfimal statements and accompanying notes. Actaaltsecould differ from those estimates.

2. ReaL ESTATE ASSETS
Dispositions

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, we selein office properties in our Piedmont Triad, Nggreent for gross proceeds
$12.9 million. In connection with this dispositiome received cash of $4.5 million and providedesefinancing of $8.4 million (recorded
mortgages and notes receivable) and committednt Ug to an additional $1.7 million for tenant impements and lease commissions.
three-year, intereginly first mortgage carries a 6.0% average inter@st Assuming no default exists, the note caextended by the buy
for two additional onerear periods, subject to an increase in the inteags to 7.0% in the fourth year and to 8.0% & fifth year. We hay
accounted for this disposition using the installimaethod, whereby the $0.4 million gain on disgosiof property has been deferred and
be recognized when the seller financing is repaid.

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, wesalkbsix industrial properties in our Piedmont @ri&lC segment for gross proceed
$12.0 million. In connection with this dispositiome received cash of $3.4 million and providedesdfihancing of $8.6 million (recorded
mortgages and notes receivable) and a limitedgeatantee with maximum exposure to loss of $1.0anil The three-year, interestily first
mortgage carries a 6.25% average interest rateindiag no default exists, the note can be extengeithd buyer for two additional ongeal
periods, subject to an increase in the interestt@.0% in the fourth year and to 7.75% in tffih fyear. We currently do not believe a |
from the rent guarantee is probable. We have a¢eduor this disposition using the installment noethwhereby the $0.3 million impairmu
was recognized in net gains/(losses) on dispositfatiscontinued operations in the second quaift@da0.

Additionally, during the six months ended JuneZm0, we recorded a completed sale in connectith thie disposition of an offi

property in our Raleigh, NC segment in the fourttaer of 2009 where the buyeright to compel us to repurchase the propertyred,
Accordingly, we recognized the $0.2 million gaindiaposition of property in the first quarter ofZ20
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NoTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

3. INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATES
Unconsolidated Affiliates

We have equity interests ranging from 10.0% to ®0il various joint ventures with unrelated thirdtps. The following table sets fo
the combined, summarized income statements foueconsolidated joint ventures:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Income Statements
Revenues $ 30,697 $ 35,97 $ 65,26¢ $ 73,46¢
Expenses:
Rental property and other expen 15,12¢ 17,46¢ 31,65¢ 35,56¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 7,41(C 8,391 16,64 16,85!
Interest expens 7,037 8,65( 15,40¢ 17,41:
Total expense 29,57¢ 34,51¢ 63,70( 69,83
Income before disposition of property 1,122 1,45¢€ 1,56¢€ 3,63:
Gains on disposition of proper — 3,42¢ — 3,42¢
Net income $ 1,122 $ 4,882 $ 1,566 $ 7,055
Our share of:
Net income(l) $ 871 $ 1,84-! $ 1,672 $ 3,11(
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a: $ 2693 2391$ 6001$ 55
|nterest expens $ 2,73( $ 3,51E $ 6,122 $ 7,066
Gain on disposition of depreciable proper $ — 3 781 $ — 3 781
Q) Our share of net income differs from our weégghaverage ownership percentage in the joint vestoet income due to our purch

accounting and other adjustments related priméilpanagement and leasing fe

In the second quarter of 2010, we sold our equitgrests in a series of unconsolidated joint vestuelating to properties in Des Moir
IA. The assets in the joint ventures included 2ilion square feet of office (1.7 million squareef} industrial (788,000 square feet) and r
(45,000 square feet) properties, as well as 41&rapat units. In connection with the closing, weeaiged $15.0 million in cash. We ha
negative book basis in certain of the joint versumimarily as a result of prior cash distribusdio the partners. Accordingly, we recor
gain on disposition of investment in unconsolideafiliates of $25.3 million in the second quartér2010. As of the closing date, the jc
ventures had approximately $170 million of secudetht, which was norecourse to us except (1) in the case of custoreacgption
pertaining to matters such as misuse of funds, ob@r bankruptcy, unpermitted transfers, environmlemonditions and mater
misrepresentations and (2) approximately $9.0 amlbf direct and indirect guarantees. We have beleased by the applicable lenders f
all such direct and indirect guarantees and we navengoing lender liability relating to such custiry exceptions to norecourse liabilit
with respect to some, but not all, of the debt. Bhger has agreed to indemnify and hold us harnftess any and all future losses that
suffer as a result of our prior investment in tbim ventures (other than losses directly resulfiogn our acts or omissions). In the even
are exposed to any such future loss, our finamaatlition and results of operations would not beeaskly affected unless the buyer defe
on its indemnification obligation.
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NoTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)

3. NVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATES - Continued
Consolidated Affiliates

We own a majority interest in Plaza ResidentialCL{:Plaza Residential”), a joint venture which waemed to develop and sell 139 for-
sale residential condominiums constructed aboveffice tower developed by us in Raleigh, NC. Bate residential condominiums in
Consolidated Balance Sheets include 32 and 40 etethl but unsold, condominiums owned by Plaza Ratsal at June 30, 2010 ¢
December 31, 2009, respectively. We initially recoeceipts of earnest money deposits in accounjabp@ accrued expenses and c
liabilities in accordance with the deposit meth@de then record completed sales when units closetlademaining net cash is recei
During the three months ended June 30, 2010 an@, 208 received $1.3 million and $2.2 million, resipeely, in gross proceeds &
recorded $1.1 million and $1.9 million, respectyebf cost of goods sold from condominium salesvégt During the six months end
June 30, 2010 and 2009, we received $3.5 milliosh $H.5 million, respectively, in gross proceeds dad $3.1 million and $4.9 millic
respectively, of cost of goods sold from condomimisales activity.

4, DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS

The following table sets forth total deferred fiocarg and leasing costs, net of accumulated amdidiza

Deferred financing cos

December
June 30, 31,
2010 2009

$ 16,88! $ 16,81

Less accumulated amortizati (6,120 (4,54%)
10,76 12,26

Deferred leasing cos 109,00¢ 108,83!
Less accumulated amortizati (47,419 (47,580
61,58 61,25¢

Deferred financing and leasing costs, net

Amortization of deferred financing and leasing sosere as follows:

Three Months Ended

$ 72,35( $ 73,515

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Amortization of deferred financing cos $ 83t $ 68¢ $ 1,67C $ 1,351
Amortization of lease commissions (included in éspation and amortizatiol $ 3811 $ 3,92¢ $ 7,58: % 7,792
Amortization of lease incentives (included in rémtad other revenue $ 27¢ $ 25C $ 537 $ 54¢

The following table sets forth scheduled future aimation for deferred financing and leasing costs:

Amortization

of Deferred Amortization Amortization

Financing of Lease of Lease

Costs Commissions Incentives
June 30, 2010 through December 31, 2 $ 1,38¢ $ 6,557 $ 47¢
2011 2,517 12,09¢ 91€
2012 2,32( 10,09: 82¢
2013 1,19¢ 8,26¢ 682
2014 48¢ 6,264 494
Thereafter 2,85¢ 13,57« 1,331
$ 10,76: $ 56,85¢ $ 4,731
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5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE
The following table sets forth our consolidated tgages and notes payable:

June 30, December 31

2010 2009
Secured indebtedness $ 715,24( $ 720,72
Unsecured indebtedness 748,48’ 748,42¢
Total mortgages and notes payable $ 1,463,727 $ 1,469,15!

At June 30, 2010, our secured mortgage loans wexered by real estate assets with an aggregatepreuigted book value of $:
billion.

Our $400.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagiis scheduled to mature on February 21, 2013iaclddes an accordion feature
allows for an additional $50.0 million of borrowirgpacity subject to additional lender commitmeAssuming we continue to have th
publicly announced ratings from the credit ratimgeracies, the interest rate and facility fee underrevolving credit facility are based on
lower of the two highest publicly announced ratinBased on our current credit ratings, the interat is LIBOR plus 290 basis points .
the annual facility fee is 60 basis points. Thereravno amounts outstanding under our revolving icredility at June 30, 2010 a
July 22, 2010. At June 30, 2010 and July 22, 20d had $1.1 million of outstanding letters of ctedihich reduces the availability on
revolving credit facility. As a result, the unuseapacity of our revolving credit facility at Jun@, 2010 and July 22, 2010 was $398.9 million.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility,which $41.7 million was outstanding at June 3A,®0s initially scheduled to matt
on December 20, 2010. Assuming no defaults haverosd, we have options to extend the maturity fatéwo successive ongear periods
The interest rate is LIBOR plus 85 basis pointsr ®ecured construction facility had $28.3 millioh availability at June 30, 2010 a
July 22, 2010.

We are currently in compliance with all debt covaisaand requirements.

6. CERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We had no outstanding interest rate hedge contaadisne 30, 2010 or December 31, 2009. The fotiguable sets forth the effect of «
past cash-flow hedges on accumulated other compseleeloss (“AOCL”") and interest expense:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Derivatives Designated as Cas-flow Hedges:
Unrealized gain recognized in AOCL on derivativeBgctive portion)
Interest rate hedge contra $ -3 217s =% 414
(Gain)/lossreclassified out of AOCL into interest expensedefifve portion:
Interest rate hedge contra $ 48 u) $ 28719 141
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7.  NDNCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Affiliates

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliatedates to our respective joint venture partn&®0% interest in Highwoodstarkel
Associates, LLC and estimated 12% economic inténgBlaza Residential. Each of our joint venturgmpexs is an unrelated third party.

8. DscLosURE ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following summarizes the three levels of inghtst we use to measure fair value, as well agsglsets, noncontrolling interests in
Operating Partnership and liabilities that we retpg at fair value using those levels of inputs.

Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identicakbtssr liabilities.

Our Level 1 assets are investments in marketalglerisies which we use to pay benefits under our-goalified deferred compensat
plan. Our Level 1 noncontrolling interests in thpe@ating Partnership relate to the ownership of @om Units by various individuals a
entities other than the Company. Our Level 1 ligbis our non-qualified deferred compensation géation.

Level 2.0bservable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sgofuated prices for similar assets or liabilitigsoted prices in markets that
not active; or other inputs that are observableasr be corroborated by observable market dataufestantially the full term of the relat
assets or liabilities. We had no Level 2 assetmbilities at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009.

Level 3. Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlen@market activity and that are significant to fae value of the assets
liabilities.

Our Level 3 assets are our tax increment finanbiod, which is not routinely traded but whose failue is determined using an estin
of projected redemption value based on quoted $hkdgsices for similar unrated municipal bonds, agal estate assets recorded at fair \
on a non-recurring basis as a result of our qugripairment analysis, which were valued usingeipendent appraisals.

The following tables set forth the assets and liighthat we measure at fair value by level withire fair value hierarchy. We determ
the level based on the lowest level of substaritipat used to determine fair value.

Level 1 Level 3
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Significant
June 30, Assets or Unobservable
2010 Liabilities Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities of non-qualified deferred pemsation plan (in prepaid
expenses and other asst $ 328: $ 3,28: $ —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensebather assets) 17,017 — 17,017
Total Assets $ 20,30( $ 3,28: $ 17,01-1
Liability:
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligation (in@atts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilitie $ 3,79¢ 3.79¢ § —
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8. DscLosuRE ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued
Level 1 Level 3
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Significant
December 31 Assets or Unobservable
2009 Liabilities Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 6,13t $ 6,13t $ —
Tax increment financing bor 16,87 — 16,87:
Impaired real estate ass 32,00( — 32,00(
Total Assets $ 55,00( $ 6,135 $ 48,87:
Liability:
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat $ 6,89t $ 6,89t $ —
The following table sets forth our Level 3 asset:
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Asset:
Tax Increment Financing Bond
Beginning balanc $ 17,09C $ 17,43¢ $ 16,87. $ 17,46¢
Unrealized gain/(loss) (in AOCL (73 22¢€ 14¢€ 192
Ending ba|anc| $ 17,01-1 $ 17,66( $ 17,01-1 $ 17,66(

In the fourth quarter of 2007, we acquired the itaorement financing bond associated with a propdeyeloped by us. This ba
amortizes to maturity in 2020. The estimated falue at June 30, 2010 was $2.2 million below thistanding principal due on the bond.
currently intend to hold this bond and do not badi¢ghat we will be required to sell this bond befoecovery of the bond principal. Paymer
the principal and interest for the bond is guaradtey us and, therefore, we have recorded no dasdies related to the bond in the three
six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009. Them lisgal right of offset with the liability, which evreport as a financing obligation, rele
to this tax increment financing bond.
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8. DscLosurRe ABouT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

The following table sets forth the carrying amouamsl fair values of our financial instruments:

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

June 30, 201(

Cash and cash equivalel $ 35,74t $ 35,74¢
Restricted cas $ 6,241 $ 6,241
Accounts , mortgages and notes receiv. $ 40,58¢ $ 40,58¢
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 3,28: $ 3,28:
Tax increment financing bor $ 17,017 $ 17,017
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,463,72 $ 1,502,52i
Financing obligation $ 33,60 $ 24,18t
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat $ 3,79¢ $ 3,79¢
December 31, 2009

Cash and cash equivalel $ 23,51¢ $ 23,51¢
Restricted cas $ 6,841 $ 6,841
Accounts, mortgages and notes receivi $ 24,21 $ 24,21:
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 6,13t $ 6,13¢
Tax increment financing bor $ 16,87. $ 16,87:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,469,15' $ 1,440,31
Financing obligation $ 37,70¢ $ 31,66¢
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat $ 6,89¢ $ 6,89¢

The carrying values of our cash and cash equivaleastricted cash, accounts receivable, mortgagdsnotes receivable, market¢
securities of non-qualified deferred compensatitam ptax increment financing bond and roumlified deferred compensation obligation
equal to or approximate fair value. The fair valeéur mortgages and notes payable and financhiigations were estimated using
income or market approaches to approximate thesphat would be paid in an orderly transaction leetwv market participants on
respective measurement date.
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9. S$IARE-BASED PAYMENTS

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, the @osngranted under its 2009 Long Term Equity Inaenilan (the “Plan}190,82¢
stock options at an exercise price equal to theirdgpmarket price of a share of its Common Stmckhe date of grant. The fair value of €
option grant is estimated on the date of grantqu#tie Black-Scholes option pricing model, whichutesd in a weighte@verage grant de
fair value per share of $4.96. During the six mentimded June 30, 2010, the Company also grantest timel Plan 89,635 shares of time-
based restricted stock and 78,151 shares of wtain-based restricted stock with weightadrage grant date fair values per share of $.
and $29.40, respectively. We recorded stbaked compensation expense of $1.4 million and #ill®n during the three months enc
June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and $3.50midnd $3.6 million during the six months endedel80, 2010 and 2009, respectively
June 30, 2010, there was $9.7 million of total nogmized stoclbased compensation costs, which will be recognized a weighted avera
remaining contractual term of 1.7 years.

10. (OMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSs

The following table sets forth the components afipeehensive income:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net income $ 40,03: $ 37,05¢ $ 52,12( $ 50,22:
Other comprehensive income/(los
Unrealized gain/(loss) on tax increment financiogdb (73 22¢ 14¢€ 192
Unrealized gains on ce-flow hedges — 217 — 414
Amortization of past ca-flow hedges 48 (72) 287 (141)
Settlement of past cash-flow hedge from dispositibimvestment in
unconsolidated affiliat 10 — 10 —
Total other comprehensive incor 78 372 53€ 465
Total comprehensive incon $ 401103 3743°'$ 5265t $ 5068

The following table sets forth the components of O

June 30, December 31

2010 2009
Tax increment financing bond $ 2,22( $ 2,36¢
Past cas-flow hedges 1,05¢ 1,44t
Total accumulated other comprehensive
IOSS $ 3,27E $ 3,81]
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11. DsCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth our operations whielguired classification as discontinued operatiditee assets associated with tt
discontinued operations comprised 1.7 million squaet of office, industrial and retail propertsedd during 2009 and the six months er
June 30, 2010.

Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009

Rental and other revenues $ 655 $ 2,781 $ 1,43: $ 6,382
Operating expenses

Rental property and other expen 274 1,00 65€ 2,522

Depreciation and amortizatic 182 S7z 36% 1,28

Total operating expens 45€ 1,57 1,021 3,80¢

Other income — (1) — 1

Income before net gains/(losses) on disposition discontinued operations 197 1,20 411 2,57¢

Net gains/(losses) on disposition of discontinupérations (260) 20,94: (86) 21,01¢

Total discontinued operations u@) $ 221468 32t $ 23,59

The following table sets forth the major classeassfets and liabilities of the properties clasgifis held for sale:

June 30, December 31

2010 2009
Assets:

Land $ — $ 867
Buildings and tenant improvements — 3,87¢
Land held for development 1,19; 1,19:
Total real estate assets 1,19 5,94(
Less accumulated depreciation — (1,484
Net real estate asst 1,197 4,45¢
Deferred leasing costs, r — 20¢
Accrued straight line rents receival — 28¢
Prepaid expenses and other assets 32 77
Real estate and other assets, net, held for s: $ 1,22¢ $ 5,031
Liabilities of real estate and other assets, redt] for sale() $ 12 $ 12

(1) Included in accounts payable, accrued expensestand liabilities.
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12. EARNINGS PER UNIT
The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted earnings per Common Unit:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2010 2009 2010 2009

Earnings per Common Unit - basic:
Numerator:

Income from continuing operatiol $ 40,09 $ 1491: $ 51,79¢ $ 26,63:
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeeim consolidated affiliates
from continuing operation (215) (11€) (429 (139
Distributions on Preferred Uni (1,677 (1,677 (3359 (3,359
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder: 38,20: 13,12( 48,01 23,14«
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations avaddbt common unitholders (63) 22,14¢ 32t 23,59(
Net income available for common unithold $ 38,14( $ 35,266 $ 4833 $ 46,73
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common - weighted average uni(1) ___r498  6977¢ 74,90, 68,53
Earnings per Common Ur- basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder: $ 051 % 0.1¢ $ 0.64 % 0.34
Income from discontinued operations available fummon unitholder — 0.3z 0.01 0.34
Net income available for common unithold $ 0.51 % 0.51 % 0.6t $ 0.6¢
Earnings per Common Unit- diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 40,098 $ 14911 $ 51,798 $ 26,63:
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeeim consolidated affiliates
from continuing operation (215) (11€) (429 (1349
Distributions on Preferred Uni (1,677 (1,677 (3,359 (3,359
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder: 38,20: 13,12( 48,01 23,14«
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations avaddbt common unitholders (63) 22,14¢ 328 23,59(
Net income available for common unithold $ 3814(3 3526¢($ 4833 $ 46,73
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common —weighted average uni 74,98¢ 69,77¢ 74,907 68,53¢
Add:
Stock options using the treasury method 20¢ 49 18¢ 30
Denominator for diluted earnings per Common Uraidjusted weighted avera
units and assumed conversi(1) __ /519t 6982t 75,09 _ 68,56¢
Earnings per Common Ur- diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder: $ 0.51 % 0.1¢ $ 0.64 $ 0.34

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholder: — 0.32 — 0.34
Net income available for common unithold $ 051% 051% 064%  0.6¢

Q) Options and warrants aggregating approximatelynfildon and 1.2 million units were outstanding dwgithe three months enc
June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and 0.6 anilland 1.3 million units were outstanding duringe thix months end:
June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, but werenuhtded in the computation of diluted earnings @@mmon Unit because 1
impact of including such shares would be -dilutive .
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13. S$GMENT INFORMATION

Our principal business is the operation, acquisiaiod development of rental real estate propenfiesevaluate our business by prot
type and by geographic location. Each product tyge different customers and economic characteyiaicto rental rates and terms, cos
square foot of buildings, the purposes for whiclstomers use the space, the degree of maintenanceustomer support required :
customer dependency on different economic drivaarspng others. The operating results by geograpioigping are also regularly review
by our chief operating decision maker for assesgarfprmance and other purposes. There are noialateer-segment transactions.

Our accounting policies of the segments are theesgsrthose used in our Consolidated Financial iG&tes. All operations are within 1
United States and, at June 30, 2010, no singleowst of the Wholly Owned Properties generated mbas 9.5% of our consolidat
revenues on an annualized basis.

The following table summarizes the rental and otkeenues and net operating income, the primanysitng propertylevel performanc
metric which is defined as rental and other reveress rental property and other expenses, for egootable segment:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Rental and Other Revenues(1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 12,067 $ 12,106 $ 24,19¢ $ 23,60«
Greenville, SC 3,451 3,60( 7,127 7,231
Kansas City, MC 3,66: 3,711 7,371 7,45¢
Memphis, TN 7,32¢ 7,407 15,197 14,43¢
Nashville, TN 14,85: 15,41¢ 29,96¢ 30,59:
Orlando, FL 3,05¢ 2,84t 6,06t 5,79¢
Piedmont Triad, N( 5,971 5,96¢ 11,92: 11,85:
Raleigh, NC 18,497 18,09: 37,257 36,30:
Richmond, VA 11,48: 11,23¢ 23,27 22,94
Tampa, FL 18,03¢ 16,58¢ 35,98( 33,125
Total Office Segmer 98,41° 96,97( 198,36( 193,35
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 3,84z 3,931 7,817 7,871
Piedmont Triad, NC 3,041 2,961 6,062 7,00¢
Total Industrial Segmet 6,88: 6,89: 13,87¢ 14,87,
Retail:
Kansas City, MC 8,74¢ 7,66¢ 16,431 15,27
Piedmont Triad, N( (40) 57 (40) 11z
Raleigh, NC 28 30 75 60
Total Retail Segmer 8,73¢ 7,751 16,47: 15,45(
Residential
Kansas City, MO 30:< 301 682 594
Total Residential Segme 30¢ 301 68z 594
Total Rental and Other Revenues $ 11433¢$ 11191+ $ 229390 $ 224,27
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13. SGMENT INFORMATION - Continued

Three Months Endec  Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net Operating Income: (1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 782t 805(% 15494% 15,04]
Greenville, SC 2,16¢ 2,34z 4,45¢ 4,63:
Kansas City, MC 2,32¢ 2,26¢ 4,54¢ 4,51¢
Memphis, TN 4,215 4,051 9,521 8,07¢
Nashville, TN 10,05( 10,217 19,96+ 19,96¢
Orlando, FL 1,721 1,462 3,341 3,03¢
Piedmont Triad, N( 4,21¢ 4,07¢ 7,86¢ 7,90¢
Raleigh, NC 13,11: 12,69: 25,87( 24,831
Richmond, VA 8,39¢ 8,07: 16,37¢ 16,08¢
Tampa, FL 10,97¢ 9,53( 21,84« 19,43:
Total Office Segmer 64,99 62,751 129,28: 123,53!
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 2,78¢ 2,94¢ 5,571 6,01%
Piedmont Triad, NC 2,322 2,21( 4,37¢ 5,54
Total Industrial Segmet 5,111 5,15¢ 9,94¢ 11,55¢
Retail:
Atlanta, GA(2) ) (6) (20 (12)
Kansas City, MC 5,73¢ 5,09z 10,11 9,95:
Piedmont Triad, N( (40 45 (40 88
Raleigh, NC 3 8 18 11
Total Retail Segmer 5,69 5,14( 10,08: 10,04
Residential
Kansas City, MC 18¢ 18¢ 42¢ 35E
Raleigh, NC(2) (88) (130 (176 (139
Total Residential Segme 10C 53 25C 21€
Total Net Operating Income 75,90t 73,10¢ 149,56 145,34
Reconciliation to income from continuing operationsbefore disposition of property,
condominiums and investment in unconsolidated affihites and equity in earnings
of unconsolidated affiliates:
Depreciation and amortizatic (33,35) (32,519 (66,08:) (65,227
General and administrative expel (6,870 (9,58)) (15,699 (18,057)
Interest expens (22,939 (21,349 (46,04°) (43,320
Interest and other incon 96€ 2,914 2,66¢ 3,921
Income from continuing operations before dispositié property, condominiums and
investment in unconsolidated affiliates and eqiritgarnings of unconsolidated
affiliates $ 1371« 1258 $ 2440 $ 22,67
(1) Net of discontinued operatior
2 Negative NOI with no corresponding revenues reprssexpensed real estate taxes and other carrgstg associated with land h

for development that is currently zoned for thepeesive product type
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14. SBSEQUENT EVENTS
Acquisitions

In July 2010, we acquired a 336,000 square foat®fbroperty in Memphis, TN for $10.0 million instaand the assumption of sect
debt expected to be recorded at fair value of apprately $40.3 million, with an implied interesteesof 6.4%. The debt matures in Noven

2015. We expect to incur or have incurred approteétyeb2.3 million of neaterm building improvements and approximately $0idlion of
acquisition-related costs.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is a fully integrated, self-administesand selfmanaged equity REIT that provides leasing, managénaevelopmen
construction and other custometated services for our properties and for thiadtips. The Company conducts virtually all of itgities
through the Operating Partnership and is its seleetpl partner. At June 30, 2010, we owned or hmadhi@rest in 330 irservice office
industrial and retail properties, encompassing @gprately 32.0 million square feet, which includmse recently developed office prope
that had not yet reached the earlier of originajguted stabilization date or 95% occupancy agdimega 48,000 square feet, two off
properties under development aggregating 232,008redfeet and a 12.5% interest in a 261,000 sdoateoffice property directly owned |
the Company (included in the Company’s Consolidatathncial Statements, but not included in the @fieg Partnershig Consolidate
Financial Statements); 32 ferle residential condominiums and 96 rental resigleumnits. We are based in Raleigh, North Cargliawad ou
properties and development land are located inddpGeorgia, Maryland, Mississippi, Missouri, Noarolina, South Carolina, Tennes
and Virginia. Additional information about us cae found on our website at www.highwoods.comformation on our website is not par
this Quarterly Report.

You should read the following discussion and angalys conjunction with the accompanying Consolidat&nancial Statements &

related notes contained elsewhere in this Quarkelyort.
DiscLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-L OOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Quarterly Reportymzontain forwardeoking statements. Such statements include, iticodar,
statements about our plans, strategies and praspader this section and under the heading “Busih&®u can identify forwardeoking
statements by our use of forward-looking terminglegich as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “gtimate,” “continue”or other simila
words. Although we believe that our plans, intemsicand expectations reflected in or suggested bi sarwardlooking statements g
reasonable, we cannot assure you that our platentions or expectations will be achieved. Whensatering such forwartboking
statements, you should keep in mind the followingpartant factors that could cause our actual resaltdiffer materially from tho:
contained in any forward-looking statement:

- the financial condition of our customers could detate;

« we may not be able to lease or release secondajmmespace, defined as previously occupied sgatebecomes available for lee
quickly or on as favorable terms as old lea

« we may not be able to lease our newly constructéldibgs as quickly or on as favorable terms agioélly anticipated;

« we may not be able to complete development, adgprisireinvestment, disposition or joint venturejpcts as quickly or on
favorable terms as anticipate

« development activity by our competitors in our &rig markets could result in an excessive supplyftite, industrial and rete
properties relative to customer dema

« our Southeastern and Midwestern United States rsarkay suffer declines in economic growth;
- unanticipated increases in interest rates coule:ase our debt service costs;

« Wwe may not be able to meet our liquidity requiretaesr obtain capital on favorable terms to fund warking capital needs a
growth initiatives or to repay or refinance outslimg debt upon maturity; ar

« the Company could lose key executive officers.

42




(Table of Contents

This list of risks and uncertainties, however, @ imtended to be exhaustive. You should also revthe other cautionary statements
make in “ltem 1A. Business — Risk Factors” setHadrt our 2009 Annual Report on Form 1KO-Given these uncertainties, you should
place undue reliance on forwalabking statements. We undertake no obligation ubliply release the results of any revisions tost
forward-looking statements to reflect any futuremte or circumstances or to reflect the occurrefiemanticipated events.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Our Strategic Plan focuses on:
« owning high-quality, differentiated real estateatssn the better submarkets in our core markets$; a
« maintaining a conservative, flexible balance shett ample liquidity to meet our funding needs ayndwth prospects.

Execution of our Plan includes (1) growing net @pieg income at our existing properties through cemtrated leasing, as
management and customer service efforts and (3ladging properties in ififl locations and acquiring strategic propertieattare accreti
to longterm earnings and stockholder value. While we owd aperate a limited number of industrial, retaitl aesidential properties, ¢
operating results depend heavily on successfuligitey and operating our office properties. Econogrimwth in Florida, Georgia, Not
Carolina and Tennessee is and will continue torbengortant determinative factor in predicting duture operating results. Our portfolio |
changed significantly over the past five years anw/ consists of a higher proportion of Class A @&droperties, which are gener:
expected to outperform competitive properties inaare markets. We have repositioned our portfplimarily by selling nornzore propertie
and developing properties in in-fill locations. Owral estate professionals are seasoned and tgted. Our senior leadership team
significant experience and maintains importanttieteships with market participants in each of oorecmarkets. Our focus for the remair
of 2010 is to lease and operate our existing plotés effectively and efficiently as possible,glise of certain nonere real estate assets
acquire and develop additional real estate assatdmprove the overall quality of our portfoliodagenerate attractive returns over the long-
term for our stockholders.

REsuULTS oF OPERATIONS

Results for the three months ended June 30, 2008 regised from previously reported amounts toeafln discontinued operations
operations for those properties sold or held fde slring 2009 and the first six months of 2010 ehhrequired discontinued operati
presentation.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009
Rental and Other Revenues

Rental and other revenues from continuing operatioere 2.2% higher in the second quarter of 20kfbagpared to the second quarte
2009 primarily due to the acquisition of one offipmperty in our Tampa, FL segment in the fourttartgr of 2009, the contribution
development properties recently placed in servicg higher lease termination fees, partly offsetldyer revenues from lower aver:
occupancy in our same property portfolio. We expecdtal and other revenues for the remainder of02@tljusted for any discontint
operations, to be relatively unchanged as compgrade same period in 2009 due to recent acquisitithe contribution of developm
projects recently placed in service and higherddasmination fees, offset by lower revenues fromdr average occupancy levels in our s
property portfolio.
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Operating Expenses

Rental property and other expenses were 1.5% lowtite second quarter of 2010 as compared to tbensequarter of 2009 primar
due to lower expenses from managen®rbntinuing efforts to reduce operating expenpastly offset by the acquisition of one off
property in our Tampa, FL segment in the fourthrtgreof 2009 and the contribution of developmemtparties recently placed in service.
a result, operating margin, defined as rental ghdraevenues less rental property and other exgesrpressed as a percentage of rent:
other revenues, was higher at 66.5% in the secoader of 2010 as compared to 65.2% in the secomdtey of 2009. We expect rer
property and other expenses for the remainder 0 28djusted for any discontinued operations, teeksively unchanged as compared tc
same period in 2009 due to recent acquisitions thedcontribution of development projects recentlgcpd in service, offset by low
expenses in our same property portfolio from mansgg’s continuing efforts to reduce operating exgesn

Depreciation and amortization was 2.6% higher enghcond quarter of 2010 as compared to the sepgarter of 2009 primarily due
the acquisition of one office property in our Tampa segment in the fourth quarter of 2009 anddtwetribution of development propert
recently placed in service. We expect depreciatigpense for the remainder of 2010, adjusted fordisgontinued operations, to be hic
over the same period in 2009 due to recent aciprisibind the contribution of development projeetsently placed in service.

General and administrative expenses were 26.4%r lowbe second quarter of 2010 as compared teg¢hend quarter of 2009 primal
due to lower deferred compensation expense fronecaedse in the value of marketable securities better our norgualified deferre
compensation plan, lower compensation costs framedcheadcount and lower aggregate short and temg-incentive compensation, ¢
lower expenses from managemsntontinuing efforts to reduce general and admtise expenses. We expect general and adminisd
expenses for the remainder of 2010, adjusted fangés in value of marketable securities held uonderdeferred compensation plan, tc
lower over the same period in 2009 due to lowerreggte short and longrm incentive compensation and lower expenses
management’s continuing efforts to reduce generdlaministrative expenses.

Other Income

Other income was $1.9 million lower in the secondrter of 2010 as compared to the second quar20@¥ primarily due to a decrei
in the value of marketable securities held undemaum-qualified deferred compensation plan andia ga debt extinguishment in 2009.

I nterest Expense

Interest expense was 7.4% higher in the secondtequaf 2010 as compared to the second quarter 09 ZBimarily due to lowe
capitalized interest from decreased developmeptaoess and higher fees on our new revolving cfadility. We expect interest expense
the remainder of 2010 to be higher over the samieg@ 2009 due to lower capitalized interest frdecreased development in process
higher fees on our new revolving credit facility.
Gains on Disposition of I nvestment in Unconsolidated Affiliates and Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidaéiliates were $25.3 million higher in the sedajuarter of 2010 as compared to
second quarter of 2009 due to the disposition ofemuity interests in a series of unconsolidatédt jeentures relating to properties in |
Moines, IA. Equity in earnings of unconsolidatediliates was $1.0 million lower in the second qearvf 2010 as compared to the sec
quarter of 2009 primarily due to the dispositiorook office property in one of our unconsolidataidtj ventures in 2009.
Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations were $22.2 million lowethe second quarter of 2010 as compared to thendegpaarter of 2009 primarily d
to the disposition of three retail properties im gansas City, MO segment in 2009.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009
Rental and Other Revenues

Rental and other revenues from continuing operatioare 2.3% higher in the first six months of 2@%0compared to the first six mor
of 2009 primarily due to the acquisition of oneicdf property in our Tampa, FL segment in the foularter of 2009 and the contributior
development properties recently placed in servazetly offset by lower revenues from lower averamgupancy in our same prope
portfolio.

Operating Expenses

Rental property and other expenses were 1.1% highbe first six months of 2010 as compared tofitst six months of 2009 primari
due to the acquisition of one office property irr Gampa, FL segment in the fourth quarter of 2068 the contribution of developme
properties recently placed in service. As a resylgrating margin was higher at 65.1% in the Bstmonths of 2010 as compared to 64.7'
the first six months of 2009.

Depreciation and amortization was 1.3% higher anftrst six months of 2010 as compared to the fitstmonths of 2009 primarily due
the acquisition of one office property in our Tampa segment in the fourth quarter of 2009 anddtwetribution of development propert
recently placed in service.

General and administrative expenses were 13.0%rlawéhe first six months of 2010 as compared te finst six months of 20(
primarily due to lower deferred compensation experaused by a decrease in the value of marketableiges held under our najualifiec
deferred compensation plan, lower compensatiors domin lower headcount and lower aggregate shari@rgterm incentive compensatic
and lower expenses from management’s continuirayteffo reduce general and administrative expenses.

Other Income

Other income was $1.3 million lower in the firsk shonths of 2010 as compared to the first six memth 2009 primarily due to
decrease in the value of marketable securities tnetter our norgualified deferred compensation plan and a gaidet extinguishment
20009.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was 6.3% higher in the first sbatins of 2010 as compared to the first six month20®9 primarily due to low
capitalized interest resulting from decreased dmpraknt in process and higher fees on our new rengbredit facility.

Gains on Disposition of I nvestment in Unconsolidated Affiliates and Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidaéiliates were $25.3 million higher in the fisik months of 2010 as compared to
first six months of 2009 due to the dispositionoaf equity interests in a series of unconsolidgétt ventures relating to properties in |
Moines, IA. Equity in earnings of unconsolidateéiliates was $1.5 million lower in the first six mths of 2010 as compared to the firsi
months of 2009 primarily due to the dispositioroog office property in one of our unconsolidatedtjgentures in 2009.

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations were $23.2 million loweths first six months of 2010 as compared to thet fix months of 2009 primarily d
to the disposition of three retail properties im gansas City, MO segment in 2009.
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LiQuibDiTy AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview

Our goal is to maintain a conservative and flexitddéance sheet with access to multiple source®lof @and equity capital and suffici
availability under our credit facilities. We genkyaise rents received from customers to fund quarating expenses, capital expenditures
distributions. To fund property acquisitions, deyghent activity or building renovations and repaptdupon maturity, we may use curl
cash balances, sell assets, obtain new debt, usewnlving credit facility and/or issue equity. Odebt generally consists of mortgage ¢
unsecured debt securities and borrowings undesexured and unsecured credit facilities.
Statements of Cash Flows

We report and analyze our cash flows based on tipgractivities, investing activities and financiagtivities. The following table s¢
forth the changes in the Company’s cash flows (Bausands):

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2010 2009 Change
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 100,04 $ 10463¢ $ (4,599
Net cash (used in) investing activities (15,65) (11,449 (4,202
Net cash (used in) financing activities (72,257 (93,575 21,32
Total net cash flows $ 12144 % (385 $  12,52¢

In calculating cash flow from operating activitiefgpreciation and amortization, which are mash expenses, are added back ti
income. As a result, we have historically generaqubsitive amount of cash from operating actisitierom period to period, cash flow fr
operations depends primarily upon changes in otrinewme, as discussed more fully above under “Resi Operations,’changes i
receivables and payables, and net additions oredses in our overall portfolio, which affect thecamt of depreciation and amortizat
expense.

Cash used in or provided by investing activitiesagally relates to capitalized costs incurred éasing and major building improveme
and our acquisition, development, disposition aathtjventure capital activity. During periods ofgsificant net acquisition andi
development activity, our cash used in such inmgséctivities will generally exceed cash provideditwvesting activities, which typical
consists of cash received upon the sale of praseaid distributions of capital from our joint wemets.

Cash used in or provided by financing activitieneyally relates to distributions, incurrence angagenent of debt and issuanc
repurchases or redemptions of Common Stock, Comumits and Preferred Stock. As discussed previowstyuse a significant amount
our cash to fund distributions. Whether or not aeéhincreases in the outstanding balances of delrtgda period depends generally upor
net effect of our acquisition, disposition, devetf@mt and joint venture activity. We generally use mevolving credit facility for workin
capital purposes, which means that during any gpenod, in order to minimize interest expense,may record significant repayments .
borrowings under our revolving credit facility.

Cash provided by operating activities was $4.6iamlllower in the first six months of 2010 compatedthe first six months of 20i
primarily due to the impact of dispositions and ésveash rents from lower average occupancy in amnesproperty portfolio, partly offset
higher cash rents from the acquisition of one effiroperty in our Tampa, FL segment in the fountiarter of 2009, the contribution
development properties recently placed in servimktagher lease termination fees.

Cash used in investing activities was $4.2 millvgher in the first six months of 2010 comparedhi® first six months of 2009 primar
due to the $4.0 million earnest money depositetiénsecond quarter of 2010 in connection with thes€ent Center acquisition, which clo
in the third quarter of 2010 and higher disposgiam2009, partly offset by higher capital expens in 2009.

Cash used in financing activities was $21.3 milliower in the first six months of 2010 comparedhe first six months of 2009 primar
due to higher reductions in outstanding debt baame 2009, mostly funded with the net proceeds four May 2009 equity offering.
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Capitalization
The following table sets forth the Company’s cdjztdion (in thousands, except per share amounts):

June 30, December 31
2010 2009

Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book $ 1,463,727 $ 1,469,15
Financing obligations $ 33,60: $ 37,70¢
Preferred Stock, at liquidation value $ 81,59 $ 81,59:
Common Stock outstanding 71,61¢ 71,28t
Common Units outstanding (not owned by the Comp 3,79 3,891
Per share stock price at period end $ 27.7¢ $ 33.3¢
Market value of Common Stock and Common U $ 209343 $ 2,507,112

$ 367235 $ 4,09557.

Total market capitalization with debt and obligas

Our mortgages and notes payable represented 3%.@Ur dotal market capitalization and was compris€&715.2 million of secure
indebtedness with a weighted average interesofede21% and $748.5 million of unsecured indebtedneith a weighted average interest
of 5.43%. At June 30, 2010, our outstanding mortgaand notes payable and financing obligations wecered by real estate assets wit
aggregate undepreciated book value of $1.2 billion.

Current and Future Cash Needs

Rental and other revenues are our principal soofréends to meet our short-term liquidity requirertee Other sources of funds for short-
term liquidity needs include available working dapiand borrowings under our existing revolvingditdacility and revolving constructic
credit facility (which had $398.9 million and $2818llion of availability, respectively, at July 22010). Our shorterm liquidity requiremen
primarily consist of operating expenses, interesl @rincipal amortization on our debt, distribuoand capital expenditures, includ
building improvement costs, tenant improvement<astd lease commissions. Building improvementscapital costs to maintain existi
buildings not related to a specific customer. Tenm@provements are the costs required to custospaee for the specific needs of custor
in spaces other than in new development projects.awticipate that our available cash and cash abprits and cash provided by opera
activities, together with cash available from bermgs under our credit facilities, will be adequate meet our shorerm liquidity
requirements.

Our longterm liquidity uses generally consist of the retient or refinancing of debt upon maturity (incluglimortgage debt, o
revolving and construction credit facilities, tetfaans and other unsecured debt), funding of exjséindnew building development or la
infrastructure projects and funding acquisitiondoildings and development land. Excluding captgdenditures for leasing costs and te
improvements and for normal building improvementsir expected future capital expenditures for starssd/or committed ne
development/redevelopment projects were approxisn&tet.4 million at June 30, 2010. Additionally, weay, from time to time, retire sol
or all of our remaining outstanding Preferred Staokl/or unsecured debt securities through redenmgtimpen market repurchases, prive
negotiated acquisitions or otherwise.

We expect to meet our liquidity needs through aluioation of:

« cash flow from operating activities;
« borrowings under our credit facilities;
« the issuance of unsecured debt;

« the issuance of secured debt;
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- the issuance of equity securities by the Comparti@Operating Partnership; and
« the disposition of non-core assets.

Recent Acquisition Activity

In July 2010, we acquired a 336,000 square foat®fbroperty in Memphis, TN for $10.0 million instaand the assumption of sect
debt expected to be recorded at fair value of apprately $40.3 million, with an implied interesteesof 6.4%. The debt matures in Noven
2015. We expect to incur or have incurred approsétgab2.3 million of neaterm building improvements and approximately $0iflion of
acquisition-related costs.

Financing Activity

Our $400.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagiis scheduled to mature on February 21, 2013iaclddes an accordion feature
allows for an additional $50.0 million of borrowirgg@pacity subject to additional lender commitmeAssuming we continue to have th
publicly announced ratings from the credit ratimgeracies, the interest rate and facility fee underrevolving credit facility are based on
lower of the two highest publicly announced ratinBased on our current credit ratings, the interat is LIBOR plus 290 basis points .
the annual facility fee is 60 basis points. We expge use our revolving credit facility for workincapital purposes and for the shtatr
funding of our development and acquisition activatyd, in certain instances, the repayment of afleét. Continuing ability to borrow unc
the revolving credit facility allows us to quicklyapitalize on strategic opportunities at sherth interest rates. There were no amc
outstanding under our revolving credit facilityJane 30, 2010 and July 22, 2010. At June 30, 28#0Jaly 22, 2010, we had $1.1 millior
outstanding letters of credit, which reduces thailakility on our revolving credit facility. As aesult, the unused capacity of our revol
credit facility at June 30, 2010 and July 22, 20HE% $398.9 million.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility,which $41.7 million was outstanding at June 3A,@0s initially scheduled to matt
on December 20, 2010. Assuming no defaults haverosdt, we have options to extend the maturity fatéwo successive ongear periods
The interest rate is LIBOR plus 85 basis pointsr ®ecured construction facility had $28.3 millioh availability at June 30, 2010 a
July 22, 2010.

We regularly evaluate the financial condition oé lenders that participate in our credit facilitigsing publicly available informatic
Based on this review, we currently expect our lesdehich are major financial institutions, to perh their obligations under our exist
facilities.

Covenant Compliance

We are currently in compliance with all debt covwetsaand requirements. Although we expect to renmisompliance with the:
covenants and ratios for at least the next yegrem#ing upon our future operating performance, @rtypand financing transactions
general economic conditions, we cannot assurelyatute will continue to be in compliance.

Our revolving credit facility, $137.5 million barterm loan due in February 2011 and $20.0 millionkogerm loan due in March 20
require us to comply with customary operating cargs and various financial requirements, includingquirement that we maintain a r
of total liabilities to total asset value, as definin the respective agreements, of no more théf. Gtal asset value depends upor
effective economic capitalization rate (after dedwg capital expenditures) used to determine tHeevaf our buildings. Depending ug
general economic conditions, the lenders have dloe dpith right to unilaterally increase the caljgtion rate by up to 25 basis points onc
any twelvemonth period. The lenders have not previously é@gedc this right. Any such increase in capitalizaticates, without
corresponding reduction in total liabilities, coufthke it more difficult for us to maintain a rat total liabilities to total asset value of
more than 60%, which could have an adverse effecur ability to borrow additional funds under tteolving credit facility. If we were °
fail to make a payment when due with respect toadrgur other obligations with aggregate unpaidpal of at least $10.0 million, and si
failure remains uncured for more than 120 days,|¢inelers under our credit facility could providetine of their intent to accelerate
amounts due thereunder. Upon an event of defaulb@mevolving credit facility, the lenders haviagleast 66.7% of the total commitme
under the revolving credit facility can accelerateborrowings then outstanding, and we could behifrited from borrowing any furth
amounts under our revolving credit facility, whislould adversely affect our ability to fund our ogions.
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The Operating Partnership has $390.9 million ppacamount of 2017 bonds outstanding and $200.Bomiprincipal amount of 201
bonds outstanding. The indenture that governs thatstanding notes requires us to comply with qusty operating covenants and vari
financial ratios, including a requirement that waintain unencumbered assets of at least 200% oftdtanding unsecured debt. The trL
or the holders of at least 25% in principal amoofeither series of bonds can accelerate the pah@mount of such series upon wri
notice of a default that remains uncured after &gsd

We may not be able to repay, refinance or exterydoarall of our debt at maturity or upon any accatien. If any refinancing is done
higher interest rates, the increased interest eseauld adversely affect our cash flow and abitityay distributions. Any such refinanc
could also impose tighter financial ratios and otw/enants that restrict our ability to take agsidhat could otherwise be in our best inte
such as funding new development activity, makingasfunistic acquisitions, repurchasing our seasitir paying distributions.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the second quarter of 2010, we sold our equitigrests in a series of unconsolidated joint vestuelating to properties in Des Moir
IA. The assets in the joint ventures included 2ilion square feet of office (1.7 million squareef} industrial (788,000 square feet) and r
(45,000 square feet) properties, as well as 418&rapat units. In connection with the closing, weeaiged $15.0 million in cash. We ha
negative book basis in certain of the joint versug@imarily as a result of prior cash distribudie the partners. Accordingly, we recor
gain on disposition of investment in unconsolidaaffiliates of $25.3 million in the second quartér2010. As of the closing date, the j
ventures had approximately $170 million of secudetht, which was norecourse to us except (1) in the case of custoreacgption
pertaining to matters such as misuse of funds, ol@r bankruptcy, unpermitted transfers, environmlemonditions and mater
misrepresentations and (2) approximately $9.0 omilbf direct and indirect guarantees. We have beleased by the applicable lenders f
all such direct and indirect guarantees and we Inavengoing lender liability relating to such custiry exceptions to norecourse liabilit
with respect to some, but not all, of the debt. Bhger has agreed to indemnify and hold us harnitess any and all future losses that
suffer as a result of our prior investment in tbiag ventures (other than losses directly resulfiogn our acts or omissions). In the even
are exposed to any such future loss, our finamaatlition and results of operations would not beeaskly affected unless the buyer defe
on its indemnification obligation.

In connection with the disposition of six induskimoperties in our Piedmont Triad segment, we rexténto a guarantee agreement
the buyer relating to an existing 237,500 squacd fease with one customer, who has leased spateeiproperties for 14 years. T
agreement guarantees the payment of rent for arxpmate twoyear period from March 2011 through June 2013 edhent the custorr
exercises its limited termination right. Our maxmexposure under this rent guarantee agreemeppxdmately $1.0 million. No accrt
has been recorded for this guarantee because wentiyrdo not believe a loss is probable.

There were no other significant changes to ourbaffince sheet arrangements in the six months ehdw®sl30, 2010. For informati
regarding our off balance sheet arrangements a¢reer 31, 2009, see Note 8 to the ConsolidatechEialaStatements in our 2009 Ann
Report on Form 10-K.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, werbw funds at a combination of fixed and variatdées. Borrowings under our revolv
credit facility, construction facility and bank berloans bear interest at variable rates. Our kengr debt, which consists of secured
unsecured longerm financings and the issuance of unsecured sihtrities, typically bears interest at fixed raitthough some loans bi
interest at variable rates. Our interest rate miskhagement objectives are to limit the impact térest rate changes on earnings and cash
and to lower our overall borrowing costs. To achiglhrese objectives, from time to time, we enteo interest rate hedge contracts suc
collars, swaps, caps and treasury lock agreemermtider to mitigate our interest rate risk withpest to various debt instruments. We dc
hold or issue these derivative contracts for trgdinspeculative purposes. The interest rate oof @ur variable rate debt is generally adju
at one or three month intervals, subject to settl@s under these interest rate hedge contractsal¥deenter into treasury lock or sim
agreements from time to time in order to limit @xposure to an increase in interest rates withesio future debt offerings. We had
outstanding interest rate hedge contracts at JOn203.0.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

There were no changes made by management to tlvalcaiccounting policies in the six months endedel30, 2010. For a descriptior
our critical accounting estimates, see “Managensebiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiord &esults of Operations Critical
Accounting Estimates” in our 2009 Annual Reportrammm 10-K.

FunDs FRom OPERATIONS

The Company believes that FFO and FFO per shardeneficial to management and investors and areritapt indicators of tr
performance of any equity REIT. Because FFO and pE&Oshare calculations exclude such factors asedighion and amortization of re
estate assets and gains or losses from sales i@ttimgereal estate assets, which can vary amongsof identical assets in similar conditi
based on historical cost accounting and useful ddémates, they facilitate comparisons of opegatderformance between periods
between other REITs. Management believes thatridalacost accounting for real estate assets inrdemce with GAAP implicitly assum
that the value of real estate assets diminishediqiabdly over time. Since real estate values haseofically risen or fallen with mark
conditions, many industry investors and analysteeheonsidered the presentation of operating redaitseal estate companies that
historical cost accounting to be insufficient ostandalone basis. As a result, management believegtibaise of FFO and FFO per sh
together with the required GAAP presentations, jl®va more complete understanding of the Commampgrformance relative to
competitors and a more informed and appropriatés lmaswhich to make decisions involving operatifigancing and investing activities.

FFO and FFO per share are r@AAP financial measures and therefore do not regmaiset income or net income per share as defig
GAAP. Net income and net income per share as difiiyeGAAP are the most relevant measures in deténgithe Companyg operatin
performance because FFO and FFO per share inctjdstments that investors may deem subjective, sschdding back expenses suc
depreciation and amortization. Furthermore, FFO ghare does not depict the amount that accruestlglir® the stockholdersbenefit
Accordingly, FFO and FFO per share should nevecdiwsidered as alternatives to net income or nemniecper share as indicators of
Company’s operating performance.

The Companys presentation of FFO is consistent with FFO asnddfby the National Association of Real Estateebiment Trus
(“NAREIT™), which is calculated as follows:

« Netincome/(loss) computed in accordance with GA
« Less dividends to holders of Preferred Stock assl éxcess of Preferred Stock redemption cost @reying value;
« Less netincome attributable to noncontrolling riests;
o Plus depreciation and amortization of real estasets,;

« Less gains, or plus losses, from sales of depriecierating properties (but excluding impairmerssks) and excluding items 1
are classified as extraordinary items under GA

« Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidated peships and joint ventures (to reflect funds froneigtions on the same basis); and
« Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation and &ination and gains/(losses) on sales related wodisnued operations.
In calculating FFO, the Company adds back net irecattributable to noncontrolling interests in thee@ating Partnership, which the
Company believes is consistent with standard imgystctice for REITs that operate through an UPR&rtucture. The Company believes

that it is important to present FFO on an as-caeddpasis since all of the Common Units not owngethe Company are redeemable on a
one-for-one basis for shares of its Common Stock.
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The Company’s FFO and FFO per share are summarizié following table ($ in thousands, except glesire amounts):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Per Per Per Per
Amount Share Amount Share Amount Share Amount Share

Funds from operations:

Net income $  40,04¢ $ 37,07« $ 52,13! $ 50,27¢
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteeeis
the Operating Partnersh (1,939 (2,059 (2,459 (2,74
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeein
consolidated affiliate (21%) (11€) (429 (139
Dividends on Preferred Sto (1,677 (1,679 (3,359 (3,359
Net income available for common stockhold 36,22¢ $ 0.5C 33,227 $ 0.5 45,89t $ 0.64 44,03¢ $ 0.6¢
Add/(Deduct):
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a 32,92¢ 0.44 32,02 0.4t 65,23t 0.8¢ 64,28¢ 0.9
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable proper a7 — (70) — (36) — (89) —
(Gains) on disposition of investment in
unconsolidated affiliate (25,330 (0.39) — — (25,330 (0.39) — —
Net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests in the Operating Partners 1,93: — 2,054 — 2,45: — 2,74¢ —

Unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortization of real esta

assets 2,731 0.04 3,22¢ 0.0t 6,07¢ 0.0¢ 6,47: 0.0¢
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable
properties — — (781) (0.01) — — (781) (0.0))

Discontinued operation
Depreciation and amortization of real esta

assets 182 — 57z 0.01 36E — 1,287 0.0z
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable
properties — — (20,949 (0.30) (174) — (21,016 (0.30)
Funds from
operations $ 4865t$ 0643$ 4930¢$ 07C$ 9448t $ 12°$ 9694¢$ 141
Weighted average Common Shareoutstanding (1) __75,60i __ 10,23 __15,50¢ __68,97¢
(1) Includes assumed conversion of all potentiallytdieiCommon Stock equivalen
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

For information about our market risk as of Decen8ie 2009, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Qisares About Market Riskh our
2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

SEC rules require us to maintain disclosure costaold procedures that are designed to ensurenfbamniation required to be discloset
our annual and periodic reports filed with the SECecorded, processed, summarized and reportddnviiie time periods specified in
SEC'’s rules and forms. As defined in Rule 13de) under the Exchange Act, disclosure controts @ocedures include, without limitati
controls and procedures designed to ensure thatniaftion required to be disclosed by us is accutadland communicated to managerr
including the Company’s CEO and CFO, to allow tiyneéécisions regarding required disclosure. The Gomijs CEO and CFO believe tl
the disclosure controls and procedures of the Cospad the Operating Partnership were each efeetivthe end of the period coverec
this Quarterly Report.

SEC rules also require us to establish and maintaérnal control over financial reporting designedprovide reasonable assure
regarding the reliability of financial reporting cathe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with gene
accepting accounting principles. As defined in RLBa15(f) under the Exchange Act, internal control offieancial reporting includes thc
policies and procedures that:

« pertain to the maintenance of records that in reaisie detail accurately and fairly reflect trangatt and dispositions of assets;

« provide reasonable assurance that transactionseeoeded as necessary to permit preparation ofiahstatements in accordal
with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures &iagomade only in accordance with authorizationsmahagement and directc
and

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of assets tl
could have a material effect on the financial steets.

There were no changes in internal control ovemiona reporting during the three months ended Be010 that materially affected,
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Qamy’s internal control over financial reporting. Thavere also no changes in intei
control over financial reporting during the threenths ended June 30, 2010 that materially affeciedyre reasonably likely to materic
affect, the Operating Partnership’s internal cdrakeer financial reporting.
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PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AN D USE OF PROCEEDS

During the second quarter of 2010, the Companyessn aggregate of 1,000 shares of Common Stobkltiers of Common Units
the Operating Partnership upon the redemption dikex number of Common Units in private offeringseexpt from the registratic
requirements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Seesrict. Each of the holders of Common Units wasaecredited investor under Rule !
of the Securities Act. The resale of such sharesregistered by the Company under the Securitiés Ac

ITEM 5. EXHIBITS

Exhibit

Number Description
12.1 Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Comg
12.2 Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Comg
12.3 Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Opegafiartnershij
12.4 Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Opega®iartnershij
31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
31.3 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act
31.4 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act
32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act
32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act
32.3 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act
32.4 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act
101 The following financial information from the Compds Quarterly Report on Form 1Q-for the three and six mon

ended June 30, 2010 formatted in eXtensible Busifsporting Language (XBRL): (i) Consolidated BakrShee
(unaudited), (ii) Consolidated Statements of Incdomeaudited), (iii) Consolidated Statements of Bg@unaudited), (iv
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unauditat], (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemémtsudited
tagged as blocks of te
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, each of the registrants has dalised this report to be signed ol
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

HiGHWOoODS PROPERTIES INC.

By: /S/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

HicHWooDS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

By: Highwoods Properties, Inc., its sole generatrpx

By: /S/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: July 28, 2010
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND
PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS
Three Months

Ended
June 30, 2010

Six Months
Ended

June 30, 2010

Earnings:

Income from continuing operations before equitgamnings of unconsolidated affiliat 39,22¢ % 50,12¢
Fixed charge: 23,69 47,51¢
Capitalized interes (370 (723
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated #fis 1,03¢ 1,71
Total earnings 63,58 $ 98,63

Fixed charges and Preferred Stock dividends:
Contractual interest expen 21,708 % 43,50°
Amortization of deferred financing cos 83t 1,67C
Interest expense on financing obligatic 394 87C
Capitalized interes 37C 723
Interest component of rental expel 387 74¢€
Total fixed charges 23,69 47,51¢
Dividends on Preferred Sto 1,677 3,354
Total fixed charges and Dividends on Preferred Stdc 25,36t $ 50,87
Ratio of earnings to fixed charge: 2.6¢ 2.0¢
2.51 1.94

Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Digdends on Preferred Stock
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND

PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations before equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliat
Fixed charge:
Capitalized interes

Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifis
Total earnings

Fixed charges and Preferred Stock dividends
Contractual interest expen
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Interest expense on financing obligatic
Capitalized interes
Interest component of rental expe!

Total fixed charges
Dividends on Preferred Stor

Total fixed charges and Dividends on Preferred Stdc

Ratio of earnings to fixed charge:

Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Digends

on Preferred Stock

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
42,01 $  32,72¢$ 3701 $ 21,537 $ 8,465
93,03 108,27 111,47¢ 106,57¢ 110,23t
(4,555) (8,317) (9,749) (5,002) (2,900
4,18( 5,99¢ 4,46 7,74¢ 8,96¢

134,67. $ 138,68 $ 143200 $ 130,85 $  124,76¢
81,98 $  92,85¢ $  9397' $ 93,63« $ 97,43
2,76( 2,71¢ 2,41¢ 2,37t 3,37:
2,13( 2,91¢ 3,93( 4,162 5,03z
4,55¢ 8,31z 9,74: 5,00z 2,90(
1,60¢ 1,467 1,41¢ 1,40: 1,50¢
93,03 108,27: 111,47¢ 106,57¢ 110,23t
6,70¢ 9,80¢ 13,47’ 17,06 27,23
99,74 $ 11807 $ 124,95 $ 12363 $ 137,47

1.45 1.2¢ 1.2¢ 1.2¢ 1.1¢
1.3t 1.17 1.1F 1.0€ 0.91
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND

PREFERRED UNIT DISTRIBUTIONS

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations before equitgamings of unconsolidated
affiliates
Fixed charge:
Capitalized interes
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés

Total earnings

Fixed charges and Preferred Unit distributions:
Contractual interest expen
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Interest expense on financing obligatic
Capitalized interes

Interest component of rental expe!
Total fixed charges

Distributions on Preferred Uni
Total fixed charges and Distributions on PreferredUnits

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Disbutions on Preferred Units

Three Months
Ended
June 30, 2010

Six Months
Ended
June 30, 2010

$ 39,22 50,12
23,69 47,51¢

(370) (729)

1,047 1,70

$ 63,59. 98,62.
$ 21,70¢ 43,50°
83t 1,67C

394 87C

37C 723

387 74¢

23,69 47,51t

1,677 3,35¢

$ 25,36 50,87.
2.6¢ 2.0¢

251 1.9¢
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND

PREFERRED UNIT DISTRIBUTIONS

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations before equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliat
Fixed charge:
Capitalized interes

Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifis
Total earnings

Fixed charges and Preferred Unit distributions:
Contractual interest expen
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligations interest exper
Capitalized interes
Interest component of rental expe!

Total fixed charges
Preferred Unit distribution

Total fixed charges and Preferred Unit distributions

Ratio of earnings to fixed charge:
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Pferred
Unit distributions

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
42,01 $  3269¢ $  37,05¢ $  2174¢ $ 8,56¢
93,03 108,27 111,39 106,54( 110,23
(4,55F) (8,317) (9,749) (5,002) (2,900
4,10: 5,97¢ 4,271 7,33¢ 8,51¢

13450! $ 138,63( $ 142,98 $ 130,62. $ 124,42,
81,98: $ 92,85¢ $ 93,8 $ 9359 $ 97,43
2,76( 2,71¢ 2,41¢ 2,37t 3,37:
2,13( 2,91¢ 3,93( 4,16: 5,03z
4,55¢ 8,31z 9,74: 5,00z 2,90(
1,60¢ 1,467 1,41F 1,40: 1,50:
93,03 108,27: 111,39 106,54( 110,23t
6,70¢ 9,80« 13,47’ 17,06 27,23
99,74: $ 11807' $ 12487« $ 123,60. $ 137,47

1.45 1.2¢ 1.2¢ 1.27 1.17
1.3t 1.17 1.1F 1.0¢ 0.91
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties In¢

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material daamit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligtiteofircumstances under which such statements mead®, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,oéimer financial information included in this gteaty report, fairly present in
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaara for, the periods presente:
this quarterly report

The Registrarg’other certifying officers and | are responsililedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagtitas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedureg tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidasubsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this quarterly reparbieing preparet

designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahoiorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting princij

evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdds report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period covgyetis report based on st
evaluation; an

disclosed in this report any change in Begistrants internal control over financial reporting thatcooed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that haseri@ly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the Registrand’
internal control over financial reportin

5. The Registrarg’other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internalrobver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’'s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of Registrarg’ Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions!

(@)

(b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknssisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refioaincial information
and

any fraud, whether or not material, thatires management or other employees who havenifisant role in the Registrarst’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: July 28, 2010

/s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive

Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:
1. 1 have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material daamit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligtiteofircumstances under which such statements mead®, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this gteaty report, fairly present in :
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaara for, the periods presente:
this quarterly report

4. The Registrarg’other certifying officers and | are responsildedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagtitas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedureg fesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidasubsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this quarterly reparbieing preparet

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahoiorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdds report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period covgyetis report based on st
evaluation; an

(d) disclosed in this report any change in BRegistrants internal control over financial reporting thatcooed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that haseri@ly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the Registrand’
internal control over financial reportin

5. The Registrarg’other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internalrobver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’'s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of Registrarg’ Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions!

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controémwfinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refioaincial information
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, thatoiwes management or other employees who havenifisant role in the Registrargt’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: July 28, 2010

/s/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersh

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material daamit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligtiteofircumstances under which such statements mead®, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this gteaty report, fairly present in :
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaara for, the periods presente:
this quarterly report

4. The Registrarg’other certifying officers and | are responsildedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagtitas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedureg fesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidasubsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this quarterly reparbieing preparet

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahoiorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdds report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period covgyetis report based on st
evaluation; an

(d) disclosed in this report any change in Registrant’s internal control oveinancial reporting that occurred during
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that haseri@ly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the Registrand’
internal control over financial reportin

5. The Registrarg’other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internalrobver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’'s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of Registrarg’ Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions!

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controémwfinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refioaincial information
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, thatoiwes management or other employees who havenifisant role in the Registrargt’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: July 28, 2010

/s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Officer of the
General Partne
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersh

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material daamit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligtiteofircumstances under which such statements mead®, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this gteaty report, fairly present in :
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaara for, the periods presente:
this quarterly report

4. The Registrarg’other certifying officers and | are responsildedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagtitas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedureg fesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidasubsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this quarterly reparbieing preparet

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahoiorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdds report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period covgyetis report based on st
evaluation; an

(d) disclosed in this report any change in BRegistrants internal control over financial reporting thatcooed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that haseri@ly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the Registrand’
internal control over financial reportin

5. The Registrarg’other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internalrobver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’'s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of Registrarg’ Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions!

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controémwfinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refioaincial information
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, thatoiwes management or other employees who havenifisant role in the Registrargt’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: July 28, 2010

/s/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offickthe
General Partne




Exhibit 32.1



CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwsderoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form Q@er the period ended June 30, 2
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio the date hereof (the “Reportl),Edward J. Fritsch, President and Chief Exec
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 IC S8 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of theaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairly prets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of
Company

/s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive
Officer

July 28, 201(
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwsderoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form Q@er the period ended June 30, 2
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio the date hereof (the “Reportl)),Terry L. Stevens, Senior Vice President and €
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursutmtl8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 98l Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairly prets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of
Company

/s/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

July 28, 201(
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwsodealty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Pathip”) on Form 109 for the
period ended June 30, 2010 as filed with the Sgesrand Exchange Commission on the date hereef“®eport”), |, Edward J. Fritscl

President and Chief Executive Officer of Highwodi®perties, Inc., general partner of the OperaBagtnership, certify, pursuant to
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 db#nbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of
Operating Partnershi

/s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH
Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Officer of the
General Partne

July 28, 201(
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwsodealty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Pathip”) on Form 109 for the
period ended June 30, 2010 as filed with the Skesrand Exchange Commission on the date hereef“@eport”), |, Terry L. Steven:
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial OfficeHigghwoods Properties, Inc., general partner ef@perating Partnership, certify, purst
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 8f@edsarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of
Operating Partnershi

/s/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offickthe
General Partne

July 28, 201(




